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Mission
– To develop Flemington as 

a world-class racing venue
– To build upon the 

pre-eminence of the 
Melbourne Cup Carnival

– To maximise financial 
returns from our racing 
and non-racing activities 
for the benefit of the Club, 
its Members, the Racing 
Industry and racegoers

– To provide first-class 
entertainment and 
wagering opportunities 
for our customers

– To maintain the highest 
integrity in all of our 
dealings and activities.

Values
– Integrity in our decisions 

and actions
– The highest standards 

in service and value 
for our customers 
and business partners

– Competitiveness in 
our markets

– Efficiency in the 
management of our assets

– The commitment and the 
contribution of our people

– A safe working environment 
for employees and 
industry participants.
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AAMI Victoria 
Derby Day 
The 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival opened in spectacular fashion 
as 115,705 people saw the David Hayes trained Kibbutz emerge 
as a future staying star with a dominant win in the Group 1 
AAMI Victoria Derby. The win gave jockey Craig Williams 
his fi rst victory in Australia’s premier 3YO classic.



Emirates 
Melbourne 
Cup Day
Grey gelding and Flemington 
trained Efficient became the 
first horse since the legendary 
Phar Lap in 1930 to win the Cup 
as a 4YO after taking out the 
previous year’s Victoria Derby. 
Michael Rodd was the jockey in 
both wins and this was his first 
victory in Australia’s greatest 
horse race. A crowd of 102,411 
was in attendance. 1  
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Crown Oaks Day 
The $22,000 yearling purchase 
Arapaho Miss proved that dreams 
are affordable by winning the 
Crown Oaks, run for $1 million 
for the first time, in front of 
a crowd of more than 95,000.
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Emirates Stakes Day
A record crowd of 84,067 gathered on Emirates Stakes Day 
to witness a landmark riding feat by Nikita Beriman 
who guided outsider Tears I Cry to victory in the 
Emirates Stakes, becoming the first female rider 
to win a Group 1 race in Victoria.
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On behalf of the Board of the Victoria 

Racing Club, I am pleased to report to 

Members on the operations of the Club 

for the year ended 31 July 2008.

This has been a most challenging and 

yet rewarding year for the Club.

The excitement and expectation 

surrounding the re-opening of Flemington 

on 8 September 2007 was tempered by the 

fact that only a few weeks earlier Equine 

Influenza (EI) had escaped the Eastern 

Creek Quarantine Centre in Sydney and 

had rapidly spread throughout New South 

Wales and Queensland.

Racing in those states was suspended 

and the doomsayers predicted it was only 

a matter of time before Victoria suffered 

a similar fate, which would have meant 

that for the first time in its 147-year history, 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival and the Club’s 

signature race would have to be abandoned.

History records that with a united, whole-

of-industry approach, ably led by Racing 

Victoria Limited and the Deputy Director 

Bio-security Victoria, Department of 

Primary Industry, Dr Hugh Miller, Victoria’s 

borders were secured. The fact that 

Victorian racing and our Spring Racing 

Carnival were able to proceed, protected the 

livelihoods of many industry participants 

in New South Wales and Queensland, 

as the punters in those states were still 

engaged in betting on racing in Victoria 

and the other EI-free states. This enabled 

revenues to flow back to the clubs in 

New South Wales and Queensland, 

even though they were not conducting 

any racing at the time.

Had Victoria fallen prey to EI, the impact 

on the industry and particularly the 

VRC through its multi-million dollar 

investment in the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival would have been nothing short 

of catastrophic.

Lessons are learned from an event such 

as this and the Club has now secured 

insurance against another outbreak 

of EI, or exceptional events, that could 

force the cancellation of the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

As history now records, the isolation 

strategy to protect Victoria proved to 

be successful and on 8 September with 

the completion of stage one of the Club’s 

Masterplan, we unveiled ‘The New 

Flemington’, featuring a totally new course 

proper and other major improvements, 

such as the new horse stall and pre-parade 

precinct, the horse tunnel connecting 

the parade ring to the Mounting Yard, 

new viewing lawns and rose gardens, 

and a new Winning Post that reflects 

the heritage of Flemington.

As foreshadowed at the Club’s Annual 

General Meeting last year, the most 

critical issue currently confronting 

the Club is water and the preservation 

of our tracks, trees, lawns and gardens.

Climate change is a reality and to ensure 

that Flemington maintains its reputation 

as one of the most beautiful racecourses 

with its spacious track complemented 

by sweeping lawns, rose gardens and 

established trees of numerous varieties, 

we must be proactive to ensure an 

adequate water supply.

While Flemington currently has a partial 

exemption from the 3A Level Restrictions, 

enabling us to at least water the grass 

tracks and sections of the Flemington 

lawns and gardens, there are many planted 

areas that are not so exempted and have 

required us to procure recycled water.

In order to continue to maintain training 

at Flemington, the Club has had to utilise 

high salinity water from the Maribyrnong 

River on the artificial tracks, and we are 

most concerned about the long-term 

impact that this will have on the adjacent 

grassed areas.

The Club executive has now received 

Board approval to proceed with a thorough 

investigation of a sewer mining project 

that would generate sufficient treated 

water to enable the Club to complete 

the greening of Flemington as proposed 

under the Club’s Masterplan, and eliminate 

completely the use of high salinity water 

on our artificial training tracks.

Chairman’s Report



On behalf of the Club, I would like to record 

our appreciation to the State Government 

and to all relevant water authorities 

that have provided great assistance 

in determining a long-term solution to 

this most pressing issue. The Club will be 

seeking financial support from both State 

and Federal Government agencies for this 

major water-saving initiative.

We would expect the water supply from 

the sewer mining facility to be available 

in approximately two years. In the 

interim, the Club is evaluating satellite 

subterranean desalination units, which 

could be located strategically around the 

racecourse providing up to 20 megalitres 

of treated water from each unit.

The Financial Statements to this report 

record that the Club incurred a loss for 

the year of $2.2 million compared with a 

profit of $2.7 million in the previous year.

The impact of EI while not affecting 

our capacity to conduct race meetings, 

nevertheless had a direct bearing on the 

Club’s revenues and expenditure, the 

major components of which are explained 

in the Financial Report.

Despite a disappointing financial result 

the Club’s cash flow remained strong and 

we continue to reduce debt in line with 

our capital management plan.

The Board remains confident that 

through the successful conduct of the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival, the Club will 

be able to continue to provide increases 

in prizemoney and further invest in 

racecourse amenities for Members 

and the public alike, while continuing 

to reduce debt.

During the year, I have received continuing 

support from Vice Chairman, Peter Barnett, 

Honorary Treasurer, Peter Fekete and all 

other Directors who give so freely of their 

time, setting strategic imperatives and 

bringing to bear their wealth of experience 

on decisions that will secure the future 

of the Club.

We value highly our staff, who across 

all areas of operation stand ready to 

meet any challenge, particularly those 

associated with conducting the biggest 

annual sporting event in Australia – 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Our Chief Executive, Dale Monteith, and 

his Senior Management team can take 

great credit for the meticulous planning 

and execution that has once again been 

the hallmark of operations at Flemington, 

especially during Cup Week.

I would like to place on record, our 

appreciation for the support received 

from Government, industry bodies 

and sister clubs, in particular:

•  The State Government and the Office of 

the Premier, the Hon John Brumby MP

•  The Deputy Premier and Minister 

for Racing, the Hon Rob Hulls MP

•  The Board and Chief Executive of Racing 

Victoria Limited

•  The Committees of our sister 

metropolitan clubs, the Melbourne 

Racing Club and Moonee Valley 

Racing Club

•  The Board of Country Racing Victoria Inc 

– and all country racing clubs

•  The Committee of the Australian Jockey 

Club (AJC) and Board of the Sydney Turf 

Club (STC)

•  The Board and Chief Executive of 

our Joint Venture partner, Tabcorp 

Holdings Limited

•  The Board and Chief Executive 

of ThoroughVisioN (TVN) 

•  Chairman and Chief Executive 

of the Australian Racing Board.

We are fortunate that our vision for 

the future of Flemington is shared by 

our Principal Partner and sponsor of 

the Melbourne Cup – Emirates Airline. 

Their continued support in all that we 

undertake, including initiatives focused 

on an increased international awareness 

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival, ensures that 

Flemington is now recognised throughout 

the world of thoroughbred racing.

Our major sponsors, AAMI, Crown, 

Lion Nathan and MYER also have strong 

alignment to our core objectives and 

values, as do our other corporate partners 

and sponsors, who see their association 

with the VRC and Flemington as being 

an opportunity to showcase their brand 

to a vast national and increasing 

international audience.

We appreciate the continuing support

of all corporations profiled on pages 20 

and 21 of this report. 

The Board does not take the support 

of our Members lightly, and we remain 

committed to maintaining the great 

traditions of this Club by focusing on 

continuous improvement in all that 

we do.

We mark with respect the loss of 

Betty Jenkins, wife of long-serving 

Committee Member, Chris Jenkins; 

Tony Allport, Chairman of the AJC; Life 

Member and doyen of racing journalists – 

Jack Elliott OAM; Bill Findlow, Timekeeper 

at Flemington for more than 30 years; 

and prior to the 2008 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival, the former Chairman of 

the STC, Graeme Pash.

Finally, may I thank all Members of the 

Victoria Racing Club for their ongoing 

support. We are proud to claim the largest 

Membership base of any racing club in 

the world, and the annual retention rate 

is testament to their loyalty and shared 

confidence in the Club’s future.

Rodney M Fitzroy

Chairman

Had Victoria fallen prey to Equine Influenza, 
the impact on the industry and particularly the 
VRC through its multi-million dollar investment 
in the Melbourne Cup Carnival would have 
been nothing short of catastrophic.
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Board of Directors

Rod Fitzroy

Fellow Real Estate 

Institute (FREI) 

Associate Australian 

Property Institute (AAPI) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 1993

Business interests
Chairman, 

Timbercorp Limited

Chairman, 

Capital Star Motors

Deputy Chairman Epworth 

Medical Foundation Board 

of Trustees

Director Epworth 

Medical Foundation 

Board of Management

Consultant, Fitzroys

Current racing interests
Breeding: five mares 

Racing: currently an 

interest in five horses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Travel

The Sydney Swans

Peter Barnett

Fellow Certified Practising 

Accountant (FCPA) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
June 1999

Business interests
Director of AMCIL Ltd, 

Djerriwarrh Investments 

Limited and Biosian Pty Ltd

Former Chief Executive 

Officer of EZ Industries Ltd

Managing Director of 

Pasminco Ltd (1988 – 1995)

Former President, Minerals 

Council of Australia 

Current racing interests
Raced a number of 

horses, including 

Paris Lane, Mr Baritone 

and Eskimo Queen

Interests outside of racing
Golf

Food and wine

Peter Fekete

Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants 

Australia (ICA)

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2000

Business interests
Partner at 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Chartered Accountants, 

specialising in audit and 

corporate advisory services

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner

Hobby breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Skiing

Football

Bill Mackinnon

BA Hons (OXON) – Law 

degree with Honours 

Oxford University

Admitted as Barrister 

UK Bar

Solicitor Victoria – (Retired)

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 1998

Business interests
Director of several public 

and private companies, 

including Embelton Limited, 

Geelong Grammar 

Foundation and Marcus 

Oldham College 

Partner in Beemac 

Bloodstock Partnership 

Trustee of family 

owned wool and cereal 

growing property

Current racing interests
Racehorse breeder and 

interests in a number 

of thoroughbreds

Interests outside of racing
Farming – breeding 

fine wool 

sheep – agriculture

Golf

Polo

Paul Leeds

Associate Fellow of 

Australian Institute 

of Management

Date joined 
Committee/Board
April 2002

Business interests
Board Director of National 

Stroke Foundation

Chairman Coo’ee 

Advertising Agency 

Network

Board Director of 

Collingwood Football Club

Board Director of Radio 

3UZ Pty Limited

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Art

Food, wine and travel

Collectables

Football
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Amanda Elliott

BA (Hons) Melbourne 

University

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2002

Business interests
Director of Pastoral and 

Investment Companies

Current racing interests
Breeder

Werribee Equine Hospital

Marcus Oldham College 

Foundation

Interests outside of racing
Family

Tennis

Riding

Travel

Music

Theatre and film

Agriculture

Michael Burn

Bachelor of Commerce 

(Melbourne)

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 2003

Business interests
Executive Director – 

Macquarie Capital 

Advisers – Macquarie 

Group Limited

Loreto Mandeville Hall 

Finance Committee 

Member

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Golf

Snow skiing

Katherine Bourke

BA, LLB, LLM

Member of the Victorian 

Bar 1989 – 2007

Chairman of the 

Bookmakers and 

Bookmakers’ Clerks 

Registration Committee 

2000 – 2007

Judge of County Court 

of Victoria 2007

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2004

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Hawthorn Football Club

Food, wine and travel

Tim Poole

Bachelor of Commerce 

(Melbourne)

Associate Institute of 

Chartered Accountants

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2006

Business interests
Chairman of Asciano Group

Director of Newcrest 

Mining Limited

Director of Lifestyle 

Communities Limited

Member of Investment 

Committee of 

AustralianSuper

Member of Advisory 

Board of LEK Consulting

Current racing interests
One mare, one foal 

and five racehorses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Running

Dale Monteith 

Bachelor of Commerce 

– Melbourne

Australian Sports Medal 

2000

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2000

Business interests
Chief Executive of 

Victoria Racing Club 

(2000 – present)

Tabcorp Joint Venture 

Management Committee 

(1994 – present)

Previously Chief Executive 

of MRC (1991 – 2000)

Current racing interests
Thoroughbred breeding

Interests outside of racing
Family 

AFL football – 

Geelong Football Club

Cricket

Golf

Cycling
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Overview
The 2007/08 Racing Season was without 

doubt the most challenging in the Club’s 

recent history.

The outbreak of Equine Influenza (EI) in 

Sydney on 23 August 2007 created great 

uncertainty with last year’s Melbourne 

Cup Carnival. This meant that until the 

Carnival commenced, we were continually 

in doubt as to whether our wonderful 

event would go ahead.

It is easier now, after the event, reporting 

on just how serious the ramifications for 

the VRC would have been in a worst-case 

scenario. With the significant growth 

in the Melbourne Cup Carnival in recent 

years, the Club’s exposure to the risks 

associated with losing the Carnival, 

or even one of the four days, have 

multiplied greatly.

While the Club over the past five years 

has done everything to avoid the risk 

of losing a Carnival in a physical sense, 

EI came out of left field and has caused 

the Board to re-examine all possible risks 

and consider putting in place additional 

risk mitigation strategies.

In a financial sense the loss of the 2007 

Melbourne Cup Carnival would have been 

disastrous for the Club. By way of example, 

on AAMI Victoria Derby eve the Club 

had spent close to $20 million on the 

Carnival, which would have been largely 

unrecoverable. On top of this the profits 

from the Carnival, which fund the Club’s 

operations for the rest of the Season, 

would have been lost. Thankfully the 

Club has been able to secure cancellation 

and abandonment insurance cover for 

the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival, albeit 

at a significant cost, to protect against 

many known potential risks, including EI.

Even though we believe EI did not spread 

beyond New South Wales and Queensland 

it still had a significant detrimental 

impact upon the financial performance 

of the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival and 

the Club’s financial result for 2007/08. 

This impact was in the order of $1.5 million, 

which included costs associated with 

bio-security measures on racedays and 

at the Flemington stables and the loss 

of revenue associated with the negative 

impact on interstate and overseas visitors 

to the Carnival.

Notwithstanding this, the Club was 

able to celebrate a number of significant 

achievements in 2007/08. The highly 

successful track reconstruction and 

return of racing to Flemington, after 

10 months’ absence, were milestones 

in the Club’s history.

The new horse stall precinct and tunnel 

from the parade ring to the Mounting 

Yard proved to be a huge success even 

though due to EI it was not until after 

the Carnival that Members and patrons 

could access the horse stall area. Already 

a number of interstate and overseas racing 

bodies have shown interest in modelling 

their raceday horse facilities on those 

at Flemington.

In general terms the completion of the first 

ever Masterplan for Flemington at a cost of 

$75 million, involving 35 major projects, was 

a huge achievement given the significant 

regulatory hurdles placed in the way of 

the Club.

More specifically the successful 

implementation of the pre-sale ticketing 

strategy for the 2007 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival, with more than 105,000 tickets 

sold, was a major achievement. This 

strategy ensured that the Club could more 

effectively control the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival experience for all racegoers, as 

well as deliver on the Club’s requirement 

to provide a safe and enjoyable event 

for all those who attended. With the 

pre-sale strategy it was necessary for the 

Club, under the Consumer Affairs Act, to 

introduce a refunds policy for pre-sold 

General Admission tickets.

Chief Executive’s
Report



2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival
The four-day attendance of 397,413 was the 

second most successful on record and truly 

indicated the strength of our wonderful 

event in what was a most difficult year.

It is clear that the Carnival owes much to 

international participation in the Emirates 

Melbourne Cup. This is particularly 

reinforced when you consider that in 1993, 

when Vintage Crop competed in and 

won Australia’s greatest race, the four-day 

attendance was close to 200,000 and had 

been at that level for most of the previous 

100 years. Those who take for granted 

the impact of international participation 

do so to the detriment of the Victorian 

Racing Industry.

Operationally the 2007 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival was extremely successful. 

The problems experienced in 2006 with 

overcrowding were largely overcome with 

the construction of the new horse tunnel 

from the pre-parade ring to the Mounting 

Yard. In addition measures taken to 

control access to and egress from the 

Flemington rail platform were most 

effective. Increased CCTV monitoring 

of all areas of the racecourse assisted the 

Club and Emergency Services to attend to 

incidents before they became problems.

Corporate involvement in the 2007 

Melbourne Cup Carnival was at an 

all time high with significant revenue 

growth being recorded for the fourth 

year in succession. New additions to 

the Club’s corporate offerings included 

the International Lounge on top of the 

western end of the Birdcage horse stalls 

and the new Home Turn Enclosure, 

both of which provided unique new 

experiences for corporate clients and 

their guests. Both were extremely 

successful in their first year.

The Melbourne Cup Carnival continues 

to be Victoria’s, and indeed Australia’s, 

largest economic contributor from an 

event perspective. In 2007 the Carnival

generated a total gross economic benefit 

(including economic uplift) of $406 million 

to Victoria. It is intended that in future 

years the Club will seek to ascertain 

the economic benefit of the Carnival 

throughout Australia to enable the 

Club to deal with both State and Federal 

Governments when seeking support to 

assist in further growing the event both 

nationally and internationally.

Wagering landscape
The Racing Industry’s primary funding 

source, the parimutuel totalisator system, 

is very much under threat with the ever 

evolving nature of the wagering market 

in Australia and overseas.

It is a fact that successful racing industries 

throughout the world rely upon totalisator 

wagering for their existence. Unfortunately 

fixed odds wagering models, which have 

rapidly evolved in Australia in recent years, 

cannot match the totalisator system in 

delivering sustainable returns to the 

industry and its participants.

Over the past 12 months it has become 

clear that state-based wagering legislation 

is largely ineffective in protecting licensed 

totalisator systems and hence the funding 

for the Racing Industry.

The move by corporate bookmakers, 

offering internet based wagering, taking 

advantage of lower tax rates and/or 

product fees than are payable by totalisator 

operators, on racing, including ‘tote odds 

betting’ has led to significant transfers 

of totalisator wagering revenue from 

New South Wales and Victoria, in 

particular, to the detriment of the 

Racing Industry in these states.

Unless racing can achieve revenue 

streams equal to or greater from corporate 

bookmakers and betting exchanges the 

inevitable consequence is a declining 

Racing Industry, which in time will make 

wagering on racing less and less attractive 

to the point that betting on other sports 

and activities will dominate.

Racefields legislation, first introduced 

in Victoria and now replicated in other 

states, is seen as one avenue of requiring 

all parties using racing’s product to 

conduct a wagering business to pay fees 

that recognise the industry’s IP rights. 

Regrettably the fees charged, which vary 

between 1% and 1.5% of turnover, fall 

well short of the product fees received by 

racing from the totalisator’s system, which 

approximates 4.5% of turnover. It follows 

that with any transfer of turnover away 

from the Victorian totalisator system 

that Victorian Racing must lose.

It is clear given the foregoing and what 

seems the inevitable ‘freeing up’ of 

the national wagering market, with 

the removal of state based advertising 

barriers, that racing in Victoria and the 

livelihood of all those who are involved 

in the industry is seriously at risk. The 

Victorian Government’s conduct of the 

totalisator wagering re-licensing process 

(currently underway) has the potential 

to support or undermine the long-term 

viability of the Victorian Racing Industry.

Prizemoney
During 2007/08 the VRC paid prizemoney 

of $35.031 million compared with $34.816 

million in 2006/07. This was the highest 

level of prizemoney paid by the Club in 

any Racing Season.

However, this achievement is even more 

impressive when you consider that the 

Club conducted five less race meetings 

in 2007/08 and received $26.767 million 

from Racing Victoria Limited (RVL) 

as distributions from the Tabcorp Joint 

Venture, compared with $28.977 million

in 2006/07.

The $8.2 million prizemoney ‘top up’ 

provided by the VRC in excess of 

RVL 2007/08 distributions is largely 

attributable to a combination of the 

Club’s Membership base, now numbering 

in excess of 27,000, and the continued 

strong financial performance of the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival.

The highly successful track reconstruction 
and return of racing to Flemington, after 
10 months’ absence, were milestones 
in the Club’s history.
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It is of major concern that RVL has 

indicated it intends to cap future 

VRC distributions, notwithstanding 

it seeks VRC support on race dates and 

metropolitan minimum prizemoney 

increases. In 2008/09 the Club has been 

forced to relinquish seven mid-week 

meetings in order to conduct and pay the 

prizemoney for three additional Saturday 

meetings allocated to the VRC. In addition, 

unlike Melbourne Racing Club and Moonee 

Valley Racing Club, the VRC will not receive 

incremental increases in distributions 

which are to be allocated by RVL to 

minimum prizemoney levels.

RVL’s position in this matter is clearly 

inequitable and can only be seen from 

the Club’s perspective as using the 

financial strength of the VRC to subsidise 

its industry prizemoney policies.

Members’ Disciplinary Committee
Arising from proven instances of 

inappropriate behaviour by a number 

of Members and/or their guests in the 

Members’ Reserved Car Parks during 

the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival and 

on Super Saturday, action was taken 

by the Club to suspend Membership 

privileges and in one instance cancel 

the Membership of a Member.

It is critical to the successful management 

of the Carnival that Members support 

the Club by not permitting inappropriate 

behaviour, which will not be tolerated 

by the Board.

The Club’s ongoing ability to maintain 

behavioural standards, particularly 

in the Members’ Reserved Car Parks, 

will determine whether it continues 

to receive the support of Victoria Police 

and the Liquor Licensing Commissioner in 

continuing the BYO policy in the Members’ 

Reserved Car Parks.

Non-raceday events
Flemington is now used year round for 

functions and events and this extends 

to use of the grounds, gardens and car 

parking areas, as well as the grandstands.

Four years ago the Club identified the need 

to strategically focus upon utilising its 

significant asset base to drive non-raceday 

revenue streams. Flemington – The Event 

Centre was created and the Club took 

control of the marketing, promotion and 

organisation of all events at Flemington, 

year round.

It is most satisfying to report that 

Flemington – The Event Centre business 

has grown in the four years from gross 

sales of $1.3 million per annum to in excess 

of $5.7 million in 2007/08. The Club’s 

objective is to double this business over 

the next three to five years.

The major non-raceday event held at 

Flemington during the year was the 

Big Day Out music festival. More than 

45,000 people of all ages attended 

the event, which proved to be the most 

profitable day outside of the four days 

of the Melbourne Cup Carnival. Already 

two other music festivals, which will 

utilise The Nursery Car Park, have booked 

to come to Flemington as a consequence 

of the Big Day Out festival.

The Board has made the conscious 

decision to utilise funds generated from 

such events to landscape and green the 

Flemington Car Parks to replicate what the 

Club has achieved with The Nursery Car 

Park. This will enable the Club to realise its 

Grounds and Gardens Masterplan earlier 

than anticipated.

Racecourse developments
In the lead up to the 2008 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival Members will have noticed work 

being undertaken to level, drain and green 

the unsealed sections of the main car park. 

Stage one of this project is expected to be 

completed by Christmas.

The construction of a new Racecourse and 

Event Operations Office will commence 

immediately after the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival. This facility will house all staff 

associated with the management of 

the Flemington Racecourse footprint. 

Currently such staff are located in different 

areas and this will enable synergies to 

be achieved with the management of 

activities at Flemington year round.

The current Racecourse Management 

Office located near the Phar Lap statue 

will be converted to a new raceday office 

at ‘the front door’ of the racecourse where 

Members, owners, trainers and the public 

can obtain ticketing and make enquiries 

on racedays. The facility will also offer 

the opportunity to create a merchandise 

store which will be used on racedays 

and non-racedays with tour groups.

Acknowledgements
The Club is fortunate to have a dedicated 

and loyal team of employees. They are 

committed to continually improving 

service to Members, industry participants 

and the public. I am extremely proud 

of their achievements both individually 

and collectively.

The VRC Directors are very supportive of 

management and staff for which I thank 

them. Without this support the Club could 

not achieve its strategic objectives.

During the year the Chairman, Rod Fitzroy, 

received a 2008 Australian Export Heroes 

Award from the Australian Institute of 

Export in recognition of his significant 

contribution to internationalising 

Flemington and the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

This award further demonstrates growing 

awareness of the Victoria Racing Club’s 

activities in taking the Melbourne Cup 

and the Carnival to the world all year round.

The Chief Executives of RVL, CRV, MRC and 

MVRC and I work very closely together and 

collectively we aim to grow and develop 

the Victorian Thoroughbred Racing Industry. 

I thank them for their continued support 

and spirit of co-operation.

Importantly your support as Members 

will ensure that the VRC continues to set 

the benchmark for race clubs in Australia.

Dale G Monteith

Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s Report 
continued
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Senior
Management

Sue Lloyd-Williams 

Deputy Chief Executive

Brendan Ford 

General Manager 

Sponsorship & 

Corporate Development

Donna Price 

General Manager 

Human Resources 

(appointed April 2008)

Craig Maltman 

General Manager 

Business & Finance

James Earls 

General Manager Racing

Dr Stephen Silk 

General Manager Strategic 

Marketing (until July 2008) 

General Manager Flemington 

(appointed July 2008)

Rozalee Erceg

General Manager 

Flemington Business Development

Julian Sullivan 

General Manager 

Membership Services

Lucas Robertson 

General Counsel 

(appointed March 2008)
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Membership overview
Despite the 10-month track closure and 

impact of Equine Influenza (EI) on the 2007 

Melbourne Cup Carnival the Club further 

strengthened its Membership base during 

2007/08. With a cap on Full Membership, 

Restricted Membership continued to grow. 

This was due to the Restricted Membership 

Growth Strategy and the extended time 

frame for elevation to Full Membership, 

which is the result of the unprecedented 

97.4% Full Membership retention rate. 

The Membership Department 

implemented several initiatives during 

the 2007/08 Season to improve its offering 

and increase Member satisfaction. 

These included:

•  A focus on sustainability, particularly 

in regard to Member communications, 

including the option to receive 

communications online and 

household consolidation

•  A reduction in Members’ Reserved Car 

Park Enclosure Pedestrian Passes to ease 

overcrowding and enhance enjoyment 

in a safe and comfortable environment

•  Members’ Historic Walking Tours

•  VRC Racing Tour – Royal Ascot. 

Following the 2007 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival the Membership Department 

retained the services of Quantum Market 

Research in order to gain an insight 

into Members’ opinions and to gauge 

satisfaction levels. The subsequent results 

revealed that Members believe the VRC 

is a professionally run organisation, 

which continually strives to improve 

its Membership offering. 

A breakdown of Membership categories 

at the conclusion of the 2007/08 Racing 

Season was as follows:

Member Category No. of Members

Full 21,964

Restricted 3,114

Life 92

Pre 1979 555

Provisional 120

Absentee 1,466

Junior 1,178

Total 28,489

Member attendance
Below is a summary of Members’ and 

their guests’ attendance during the 2007 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. Once again, 

AAMI Victoria Derby Day was the most 

popular day, with 54,310 Members and 

guests comprising over 46% of the day’s 

attendance. Of particular note is the 

significant increase in Emirates Stakes 

Day attendance, which resulted in 11,396 

more Members and guests attending 

in 2007 than in 2005. 

Quantum Market Research revealed that 
Members believe the VRC is a professionally 
run organisation, which continually strives 
to improve its Membership offering. 

Membership

Member attendance
2005 2006 2007

Total Members % Total Members % Total Members %

Derby 115,660 54,598 47.2 129,089 54,563 42.3 115,705 54,310 46.9

Cup 106,479 42,759 40.2 106,691 41,247 38.7 102,411 41,667 40.7

Oaks 100,263 50,557 50.4 104,131 50,130 48.1 95,230 47,417 49.8

Stakes 61,382 33,846 55.1 78,158 42,548 54.4 84,067 45,242 53.8

Total 383,784 181,760 48.2 418,069 188,488 45.1 397,413 188,636 47.5

Member attendance outside of the Melbourne Cup Carnival remained strong, 

with Members attending, on average, four race meetings.
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During the 2007/08 Racing Season, 
the number of Members who achieved 
Racing Rewards Group status 
increased significantly.

Racing Rewards
2007/08 saw the Racing Rewards 

Program, now in its seventh year 

of operation, continue to grow and 

expand on its Member offerings. 

Since its inception, the Program 

has strengthened its position among 

Members, who regard it as an important 

and valued addition to Membership. 

Awareness of the Program has steadily 

increased since its introduction in 2001. 

2007/08 market research findings reveal 

that current Member awareness of the 

Program is almost 96%, the highest figure 

since its introduction.

During the 2007/08 Racing Season, 

the number of Members who achieved 

Racing Rewards Group status 

increased significantly.

Reward 
Group

No. of 
Members 
2006/07

No. of 
Members 

2007/08

Group 3 4,267 4,006

Group 2 1,395 1,836

Group 1 844 1,200

Total 6,506 7,042

Members’ Events
Members’ Events were well supported 

during the 2007/08 Season as the Club’s 

reputation for hosting enjoyable and 

informative events was acknowledged 

through the strong attendances at 

the following:

•  Members’ Private Gallery Viewing – 

Guggenheim and Sidney Nolan 

exhibitions

•  Members’ Spring Fashion Cocktail Party

•  DECJUBA Girls Day Out Young 

Members’ Event

• VRC Racing Tour – Hong Kong

•  Members’ Golf Day at The Heritage 

Golf and Country Club

•  Young Members’ End of Season Ball 

at Crown Palladium

•  Emirates Junior Members’ Marquee 

on Emirates Stakes Day

•  Members’ Wine Appreciation Lunch

•  Members’ Historic Walking Tours

• ‘An evening with…’ nights.

Melbourne Cup Carnival Members’ 
Reserved Car Parks
The ongoing popularity of the Members’ 

Reserved Car Parks ensured that 

outstanding sales figures were achieved 

during the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival, 

with AAMI Victoria Derby Day, once again, 

the most popular day. 

During the 2007 Carnival the Membership 

Department’s primary focus was on 

enhancing the overall experience in the 

Members’ Reserved Car Parks. In order 

to achieve this and to reflect the growing 

popularity of Crown Oaks and Emirates 

Stakes Days, Pedestrian Pass limits 

for standard Car Sites in The Nursery 

and The Rails were reduced to 10 and 15 

respectively. In addition, the maximum 

number of adjoining Car Sites was 

reduced from four to three.

The pre-packaged and professionally 

designed Birdcage Chalets and Hedges 

Marquees were again a popular option 

for Members looking to entertain 

guests in a comfortable, exclusive, 

yet private environment. 
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The substantial prizemoney and historical 
significance of the feature events attracted 
the trainers of the best available horses that 
Equine Influenza restrictions would allow.

Overview
The high quality and great competitiveness 

of racing at Flemington was a cornerstone 

of the Club’s overall success, for the benefit 

of Members and stakeholders.

Facts emerging from the 25 VRC race 

meetings include:

•  18 days at Flemington, following the 

re-opening of the racecourse after 

a successful track reconstruction 

•  Two days at each of Werribee and 

Bendigo, and one each at Sandown, 

Moonee Valley and Cranbourne

•  208 races, attracted 2,414 starters 

(average 11.6 per event) 

•  Of the above, 67 were ‘Black Type’ races – 

13 Group One, 10 Group Two, 14 Group 

Three, and 30 Listed Races. This was more 

than 30% of all races run by the Club

•  $35,031,000 in prizemoney was paid – an 

increase of 0.4% on the previous Season. 

The ratio of VRC Group or Listed Races 

is a statistic that tells an important story. 

It is one of the base factors for the VRC’s 

reputation worldwide, as a promoter and 

host of thoroughbred racing excellence 

at Flemington Racecourse.

Highlights
2007 September and October race meetings
The return of racing to Flemington, 

headlined by the inaugural running 

of the Makybe Diva Stakes, was the 

beginning of an exciting new era for the 

Club. Even though the mood at the time 

was tempered by the threat of Equine 

Influenza (EI), the inconveniences of 

raceday bio-security measures were 

a small price to pay to help Victoria 

remain EI-free.

The September and October fixtures 

foreshadowed an even more exciting 

racing experience to come at Flemington 

in November.

2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival
•  The dominance of Weekend Hussler 

in the Coolmore Stud Stakes on AAMI 

Victoria Derby Day

•  The powerhouse victory by Kibbutz (NZ) 

in the AAMI Victoria Derby

•  A wonderful Emirates Melbourne Cup 

race in which the Flemington trained 

Efficient (NZ) became the first horse to 

emulate the deed of Phar Lap (NZ) in 1930, 

by winning the Cup as a 4YO after taking 

out the previous year’s Victoria Derby

•  The very brave performances of English 

visitor Purple Moon (GB) and Irish trained 

3YO Mahler (GB) in filling the Cup placings

•  The $22,000 yearling purchase, Arapaho 
Miss, which proved that dreams are 

affordable when she won the Crown 

Oaks, run for $1 million for the first time

•  The stirring duel over 1200m between 

Gold Edition and Miss Andretti at WFA in 

The Age Classic, run as a Group 1 race for 

the first time, with the latter prevailing

•  A landmark riding feat by Nikita Beriman, 

who guided outsider Tears I Cry to victory 

in the Emirates Stakes, becoming the 

first female rider to win a Group 1 race 

in Victoria.

The program of races ensured competitive 

and exciting racing at the various levels. 

The substantial prizemoney and historical 

significance of the feature events attracted 

the trainers of the best available horses 

that EI restrictions would allow, and 

brought in the finest riders from Australia 

and overseas. Headlined by a memorable 

2007 Emirates Melbourne Cup , the 38 race 

schedule delivered a successful racing 

product to the Carnival. 

Racing
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2008 Super Saturday
The programming format of this day 

as one of all ‘Black Type’ races continued 

in 2008. 

Weekend Hussler’s Newmarket Handicap 

victory, which saw him rated as the world’s 

best 3YO sprinter, was the highlight of this 

day. In the Darley Australian Cup, Sirmione 

and Princess Coup (NZ) repeated the 2007 

L’Oréal Paris Mackinnon Stakes result, 

in order, and the emergence of newcomer 

Light Fantastic in the Cadbury Guineas 

caused great excitement.

The winners of the Group 1 features were 

clearly the best horses in Australia in their 

respective categories, and the standard 

of racing throughout the entire day 

was exceptional.

Other racing highlights
•  Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day 

welcomed two new Listed Races 

(3YO 1800m and Open 2500m) and the 

elevation of the Gilgai Stakes (1200m) 

to Group 2 status

•  The dominance of Apache Cat in the 

Coolmore Lightning Stakes in February 

(first leg of the 2008 GLOBAL SPRINT 

CHALLENGE™), launching this former 

Cadbury Guineas winner to a world-

class ratings level

•  The dead-heat in the VRC St Leger 

between Inkster and Moment in Time, 

the first since 1934, in what was the 

strongest renewal of the race in the 

past 15 years

•  Another successful VRC-CRV Winter 

Championship Series – a highlight 

of the VRC Winter calendar since 1980

•  The rare feat of Ginolad, which 

completed the 2008 Grand Annual/

Grand National double.

Summary
The strategies in place for Flemington 

race programming align directly to the 

VRC’s vision and mission – the pursuit 
of racing excellence. Objectives are 

met through:

•  Securing optimal race dates

•  Setting timely feature races, run 

over an appropriate distance, under 

suitable weight, gender and/or age 

eligibility conditions 

•  Offering the highest possible prizemoney 

in the various race segments. 

The strategic placement of the right 

races at the right time at world-renowned 

Flemington Racecourse, which integrate 

great historical importance and significant 

financial reward, is central to the VRC’s 

successful positioning as one of the great 

racing clubs of the world.
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Racecourse
In 2007/08 we had the much anticipated 

return of racing on the newly reconstructed 

Flemington course proper, with 18 meetings 

held on the new racing surface.

The new turf track has more than 

23 kilometres of drainage pipes under 

the surface and a special growing medium 

of sandy loam soil. All this ensures a 

well drained, uniform profile for the 

racing surface.

Other developments, including the 

removal of the crown in the centre of the 

track and the crossing at the 2,000 metre 

mark, and improved camber on the turns, 

have ensured the track is the best racing 

surface possible.

Even though the track is still consolidating 

after a little more than a year of racing, 

reports about the new surface have been 

very favourable.

Stables
With the completion of the new central 

community stables comprising 156 boxes 

with stable blocks of 11 to 26 boxes, the 

old south community stables were 

demolished. Plans for the use of this 

area are now being developed.

Grandstand facilities
The Flemington Grandstands continued 

to grow as a popular venue destination 

through Flemington – The Event Centre. 

More than 360 events were held in the 

venue function rooms. The big attraction 

of Flemington as a function venue are 

its beautiful gardens, the views of the 

Melbourne city skyline and the proximity 

to Melbourne via Citylink. 

The ongoing maintenance program for 

Flemington’s facilities will ensure that the 

Club’s clients will be presented with the 

best possible venue for their special event.

Water resources
Flemington is a major user of water and 

the Club has been investigating a number 

of options to develop a sustainable 

water strategy.

As part of our commitment to the State 

Government’s Environment and Resource 

Efficiency Plans (EREP), during the year the 

Club continued with its feasibility study 

on the development of an on-site sewer 

mining and treatment plant for the 

production of up to 300 megalitres 

of water, which will significantly reduce 

Flemington’s reliance on potable water.

The Club continues to work closely 

with City West Water, Melbourne Water, 

Southern Rural Water and the Environment 

Protection Authority on various water 

efficiency strategies. 

Grounds and gardens
During the year an audit of our rose 

gardens revealed we have 15,426 rose 

plants on the Flemington site. These 

along with all our gardens, lawns and 

trees required careful maintenance, 

particularly with limited water resources. 

This program is being undertaken with 

appropriate consideration under the 

Club’s Sustainability Charter. 

Flemington 
Racecourse
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The ongoing maintenance program 
for Flemington’s facilities will ensure 
that the Club’s clients will be presented 
with the best possible venue for their 
special event.
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Media Research Group estimated the 
coverage gained by the Carnival to be 
the equivalent of $17,647,725 in print 
media advertising value.

Strategic 
Marketing

The return to Flemington after the major 

redevelopment in 2007/08 provided 

the Club with the opportunity to fully 

promote its new facilities. While the 

unfortunate consequences of Equine 

Influenza (EI) created some logistical 

obstacles, there was minimal impact on 

the Strategic Marketing Department’s 

promotional activities during the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival, and we are 

most grateful to our media partners 

for their continued support during 

this difficult period.

MYER Fashions on the Field at Flemington 
2007 saw the fourth year of the national 

MYER Fashions on the Field at Flemington 

competition with over $350,000 in 

prizes offered.

The Seven Network’s Rebecca Maddern 

and celebrity Carson Kressley were MCs 

along with appearances from Sonia Kruger 

who worked on the Seven Network’s 

telecast throughout the Carnival.

Celebrities who were guests of the MYER 

Fashions on the Field Enclosure included 

Jennifer Hawkins and The Veronicas. 

The invitation-only Millinery Award, 

introduced in 2006, was again a success 

in 2007 with noted Melbourne milliner 

Kim Fletcher winning the award.

The Women’s Classic Racewear category 

attracted 1,000 entries, while the Men’s 

Classic Racewear section garnered 

100 entrants.

Emirates Kids Fashions on the Field 

continued to be a highly popular event 

for young racegoers on Emirates Stakes 

Day with 1,500 children entering the 

competition in 2007.

2007 Emirates Melbourne Cup Parade
With EI bio-security measures in place 

the Emirates Melbourne Cup Parade was 

without horses for the first time, but this 

didn’t detract from the event, which saw 

the highest ever turnout of Cup trainers 

and jockeys. Their appearance was able to 

raise significant sums for both The Alfred 

Hospital and The National Jockeys’ Trust. 

One of the highlights of the parade was 

the appearance of Delta Goodrem, who 

subsequently performed the national 

anthem on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day, 

while Carson Kressley and Human Nature 

also appeared in the parade to the delight 

of the tens of thousands who lined the 

streets to join in the fun. 

2007 Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour 
In its fifth year, the tour saw the famous 

‘loving cup’ travel to 33 destinations 

throughout Australia and New Zealand. 

Escorting the Cup on its journey were 

ambassadors John Letts, Greg Hall and 

Steven King, and the involvement of 

these former Cup-winning jockeys 

provided excellent media opportunities. 

Twenty-six local councils were involved 

along with 17 race clubs. Visits were made 

to 24 schools and 20 aged care facilities 

and hospitals. Sixty-nine community events 

were hosted and media coverage of the tour 

was valued at more than $3,000,000.

2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival 
economic impact 
The 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival again 

proved a bonanza for the state’s economy 

despite the impact of EI.

An independent study estimated the 

Carnival contributed a gross economic 

benefit (including economic uplift) 

to Victoria of $406 million.
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Despite the spectre of Equine Influenza, 
the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival 
attracted the second-highest four-day 
attendance on record – 397,413.

Pin & Win promotion
The Alfred Hospital was appointed as 

the VRC’s charity partner for the 2007 

and 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnivals, and 

through its association with the Pin & Win 

promotion was able to raise $478,000 in 

2007 – the highest ever for a charity’s first 

year involvement. Included in this amount 

was $88,000 raised through the Chairman’s 

Dinner and the VRC Oaks Club Lunch. 

In 2007, for the first time, the pins were 

also sold via the new online store. 

Media and Publicity 
The Media Research Group (MRG) was 

engaged to provide an analysis of print 

media coverage of the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival. Coverage was analysed for 

the period 1 October – 16 November. 

MRG identified a total of 10,482 articles 

from newspapers across the country 

that contained at least one mention 

of a relevant key word pertaining to 

the Carnival.

MRG estimated the coverage gained by the 

Carnival to be the equivalent of $17,647,725 

in print media advertising value.

2008 Flemington Festival of Racing 
The Festival of Racing returned to 

Flemington in 2008, and the Club received 

an excellent response from racegoers, 

with 24,111 attending on Super Saturday, 

the second highest attendance for this 

day in 10 years, while more than 10,000 

were in attendance on Blamey Stakes 

Day. The festival continues to grow in 

popularity and we are hopeful of reaching 

a combined two-day attendance of 

40,000 in 2009.

Website 
The new Flemington website was launched 

in October 2007 with excellent feedback 

from VRC Members. Traffic continued to 

grow significantly, with Melbourne Cup 

ranking fifth in Google’s most popular 

sports-related search terms.

Over 300,000 visitors came to the 

website on Emirates Melbourne Cup Day, 

an increase of over 50% on 2006. Fifty-three 

percent of Members log in to the website 

on a monthly basis, with 50% of Members 

renewing their Memberships online. 

The site is updated on a daily basis to 

ensure the most up-to-date information 

is available at all times.
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The total number of sponsors increased 
to 77 – up by 10 – resulting in an increase 
in net revenue of 20%, the highest 
increase recorded for the past five years.

Sponsorship 
and Corporate 
Development

Corporate support at Flemington 

remained strong during the year, 

with both sponsorship and corporate 

hospitality posting healthy revenue 

increases and growth in the client base.

The total number of sponsors increased to 

77 – up by 10 – resulting in an increase in 

net revenue of 20%, the highest increase 

recorded for the past five years.

A total of 42 sponsors renewed their 

contracts, with a retention rate of 87% 

being achieved. 

The strength of the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival and its attraction to sponsors is 

clearly illustrated by the fact that it now 

accounts for 85% of total sponsorship 

revenue. A total of 53 sponsors participated 

over the four days of the Carnival, up by 

eight on the previous year. 

One of the Club’s greatest assets and 

key success stories is the longstanding 

support from its sponsors, particularly 

its major corporate partners.

Emirates celebrated its 11th year as a 

Club sponsor and its fourth as Principal 

Partner and Melbourne Cup race sponsor. 

Emirates’ continued support of key Club 

events, including the Emirates Melbourne 

Cup Parade, Emirates Kids Fashions on the 

Field, Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour and 

International Strategy, has been pivotal 

to their success. 

Major partner, MYER, signed a new 

five-year agreement to continue as title 

sponsor of the MYER Fashions on the Field, 

with naming rights to the MYER Classic 

on AAMI Victoria Derby Day and the new 

MYER Spring Fashion Stakes on Crown 

Oaks Day. The agreement extends the 

MYER participation at Flemington to 

beyond 30 years.

AAMI and Crown completed their 16th and 

15th years respectively as major partners 

of the Club: AAMI as Victoria Derby sponsor 

and Crown as Oaks sponsor. Additionally, 

Flemington beer pourage rights holder 

Lion Nathan completed its seventh year 

as a major partner. 

A key focus for the sponsorship team 

was to work closely with sponsors to 

help them leverage their involvement 

and continue to grow support for Club 

events and programs.

During the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

the Club welcomed new race sponsors 

Coolmore, Ellerston Capital, MFS, Parnell 

Pharmaceuticals, Skilled Group and 

BlueScope Steel.

The number of Associate sponsors 

continued to grow. New sponsors in this 

category included Colliers International, 

Deutsche Bank, Grand Hyatt Melbourne, 

Morgan Stanley, Paspaley, Westpac 

and Thrifty.

Birdcage 
The Birdcage has no peer as the major 

sporting corporate hospitality facility 

in Australia. 

The vibrancy and uniqueness of the 

Birdcage was further enhanced in 2007 

with many sponsors going to extraordinary 

lengths with the presentation of their 

marquees and showcasing of their brands. 

A new option gaining popularity 

with sponsors was the Club-designed 

pre-packaged Birdcage Chalets, this 

year presented in a Parisian Café 

Streetscape theme.

The Girls Day Out race meeting in 

September, which marked the return 

of racing to Flemington, featured a new 

title sponsor DECJUBA, the fashion label’s 

first venture into racing sponsorship.

The Festival of Racing was supported by 

longstanding major partners Darley and 

Cadbury Schweppes, while Melbourne 

Cup Carnival Preview Day in October and 

Cleanevent Grand National Steeplechase 

Day in July were again supported by their 

regular raceday sponsors.

Principal Partner Major Partners Official Partners Race Sponsors

OFFICIAL PRINT MEDIA 
PARTNER

OFFICIAL CONFECTIONERY 
PARTNER

OFFICIAL NON-ALCOHOLIC 
BEVERAGE PARTNER

OFFICIAL WINES PARTNER

OFFICIAL TELECAST PARTNER
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Corporate marquees 
The Melbourne Cup Carnival’s mantle 

as the nation’s premier sporting event 

for corporate hospitality remained 

firmly intact with demand for corporate 

marquees at an all-time high.

Net revenue from corporate marquee 

sales increased by 13%, the biggest in 

recent years, while the client retention 

rate for corporate marquees was an 

impressive 75%.

A total of 171 companies housing 35,000 

clients took up 135 packaged marquee 

facilities over the four days of the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival in the Winning 

Post, Trackside, Ascot, Home Straight 

and Home Turn Enclosures. 

The ever-increasing demand for well-

located, elevated marquees overlooking 

the track prompted the successful 

introduction of the Home Turn Enclosure. 

Located at the turn into the straight 

the new Enclosure added an exciting 

new dimension to the Club’s offering of 

premium corporate marquee facilities.

The popularity of the Winning Post 

Enclosure was further enhanced by 

the introduction of a new hard-walled 

marquee option with state-of-the-art 

marquee components, including glass 

panelling, timber decking and sails. Its 

introduction now provides the Enclosure 

with four levels of product to satisfy the 

full range of corporate demand.

Corporate suites
Net revenue from corporate suites grew 

by 27% primarily because of the return 

to Flemington after the 10-month track 

closure period.

A total of 90% of annual suite holders and 

regular Melbourne Cup Carnival clients 

again secured suites, while casual raceday 

sales remained high, particularly for 

feature race meetings.

Also, two Hill Stand suite clients chose to 

undertake refurbishment of their suites.

Media PartnersAssociate Sponsors
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Catering at Flemington continued 

to respond to key customer needs, 

diversified function requirements, and 

industry and environmental factors. 

The Club’s activities in 2007/08 were 

characterised by increased Member and 

public raceday attendance; the hosting 

of major non-racing events, notably 

the Big Day Out music festival; a trend 

towards a preference for healthy options; 

and sustainable practices. The Club, 

in conjunction with its head caterer, 

Peter Rowland at Flemington, pre-empted 

and responded to these and many of the 

challenges throughout the year.

Key initiatives 2007/08
The following key initiatives were 

introduced during 2007/08:

•  Introduction of Customer Relations 

personnel in each Members’ dining 

facility, which has enabled immediate 

action and communication for any 

guest query

•  Upgrades in both equipment and food 

offerings, which have been met with 

favourable feedback, particularly the 

Atrium buffet dining options

•  The continued growth of Flemington – 

The Event Centre assisted Peter Rowland 

Catering’s scales of economy, with 

purchasing and labour requirements 

being streamlined

•  The introduction of a number of healthy 

and dietary sensitive food options to all 

food outlets. Upon request, these options 

were made available in all dining venues

•  The introduction of environmentally-

friendly disposable cutlery, plateware 

and plasticware in all retail food outlets

•  The Club worked with the charity 

Secondbite to distribute approximately 

one tonne of leftover food during 

the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

Catering
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The Club worked with the charity 
Secondbite to distribute approximately 
one tonne of leftover food during 
the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 
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VRC also won the 2007 Victorian Tourism 
Awards in the Major Events category 
based on the tourism impact of the 
2006 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

Overview
During the Season the Club’s Business 

Development Department continued 

to concentrate on maximising financial 

returns from both racing and non-racing 

activities. A key focus also was to provide 

integrated customer service support 

to all VRC business units.

During 2007/08 Business Development 

generated in excess of $8 million net 

revenue and was responsible for a broad 

portfolio, including:

• Premium and public restaurants

• Marquee dining facilities

• Flemington Customer Service Centre

•  Customer Relationship Management 

systems upgrade

• Tourism – Marketing and Sales

•  Raceday group packages 

and private raceday functions 

• Event development

• Flemington – The Event Centre

• Melbourne Cup Business Network.

Flemington – The Event Centre
•  Over 1,400 enquiries for functions 

were received in 2007/08 for weddings, 

conferences, product launches – and 

a range of dinners – social, corporate, 

association and charitable events

•  Conducted 362 events – including 

57 weddings (conversion rate was 19.7% 

with a 41% return of repeat functions 

or repeat clients)

•  Hosted the Big Day Out music festival 

for the first time. This event is now 

in its 15th year and is of cultural 

significance to the state of Victoria. 

More than 45,000 music lovers came 

to Flemington and it was the first time 

that the wetlands precinct was utilised 

for an event. Revenue for this event 

alone was $1,531,477 to the Club.

Tourism and groups
The Club’s participation at travel and 

tourism tradeshows, both in Australia 

and overseas, continued to be a key focus. 

This strategy continues to assist in growing 

and maintaining key relationships, as well 

as building Flemington’s brand awareness 

throughout the year with wholesale and 

retail travel operators, businesses and 

incentive houses. 

Equine Influenza (EI) had a negative 

impact on international and interstate 

visitors during the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival. The Carbine Marquee in 

particular was affected due to a 

predominantly interstate clientele. 

This was the first time in four years 

that Emirates Melbourne Cup Day was 

not at capacity. The total number of 

guests catered for over the three days 

was 2,891 compared with 3,116 in 2006.

Reserved seat sales increased by 9.7%. 

This growth primarily came from the sale 

of Hill Stand seats on Emirates Stakes Day. 

The pre-sold General Admission strategy 

was introduced for the first time during 

the 2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival and 

was very well received with more than 

105,000 General Admission tickets sold.

The VRC also won the 2007 Victorian 

Tourism Awards in the Major Events 

category based on the tourism impact 

of the 2006 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

Customer Service Centre (CSC)
The CSC continued to play an integral role 

in the Club’s commitment to excellence 

in the provision of service to Members, 

the public, industry participants and 

internal customers. 

During the year the CSC recorded the 

following results: 

•  Telephone calls increased by 5.5% 

to 99,289

• Orders totalled $21.5 million

•  Email enquiries increased by 33% 

to 12,411. 

Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM)
During 2007/08 the VRC committed 

further resources to the development 

of CRM at Flemington and within the 

Victorian Racing Industry by working with 

RVL on an upgrade of the existing system.

The upgraded system should be 

completed in 2008/09 and, once fully 

functional, will increase the VRC’s ability 

to develop one-on-one relationships with 

all of its customers. An online bookings 

module through the VRC website is being 

developed and will be an important 

component of the CRM development.

Business 
Development

24
    

Vi
ct

or
ia

 R
ac

in
g 

Cl
ub

   A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
00

8



The Chairman’s Club
The Chairman’s Club was fully subscribed 

at 80 Memberships for the 2007/08 Season. 

A waiting list of companies and individuals 

wishing to join was established.

The Terrace and 
The Panorama restaurants
The Terrace and The Panorama restaurants 

both continued to enjoy strong annual 

support and delivered strong financial 

returns during 2007/08 Season. Both these 

restaurants were at full capacity for the 

2007 Melbourne Cup Carnival and many 

of the other feature days throughout 

the year.

Melbourne Cup Business 
Network (MCBN)
The MCBN now has 840 Australian and 

international businesses as registered 

members, and continues to grow. The 

Business Network is a key component 

in the Club’s strategy to leverage the 

Melbourne Cup brand and to take 

the Carnival to the world year round.

A special events program, including 

national, local and international events, 

was developed during the year for MCBN 

members along with a dedicated website 

which has on average 1,800 page views 

a month. At the 2007 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival the International Lounge 

operated for the first time for companies 

entertaining overseas business guests, 

and was exceptionally well received.

The VRC received the 2007 Governor of 

Victoria Export Award. This award further 

highlights that the Club’s strategy of 

taking the Melbourne Cup to the world, 

year round, is succeeding.

Event and product development
The Club developed a special events 

program during 2007/08 to particularly 

profile Flemington and a portfolio of 

annual events that the Club has developed 

as ‘assets’.

Events include Footy Finals Fever Lunch 

at Flemington and the development 

of a Retail Village on DECJUBA Girls Day 

Out and on Melbourne Cup Carnival 

Preview Day.

In particular, the Club focused on 

developing a strategy to promote 

and leverage opportunities across 

all corporate business segments 

of the Club. This involved working 

with targeted organisations and 

individuals to particularly cultivate 

long-term relationships. 

Business Development added two 

new Carnival products to its portfolio, 

including Lawn Stand Boxes in an 

underutilised section of the Lawn Stand 

and the International Lounge, located 

above the new horse stalls precinct.

25
    

Vi
ct

or
ia

 R
ac

in
g 

Cl
ub

   A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
00

8



Our people
As at 31 July 2008 the Club employed 165 

full time staff and nine part time staff. 

The Club also employed 367 casuals for 

Flemington race meetings. 

During the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

period the Club employed approximately 

4,040 casual raceday staff and, significantly, 

all staff, with the exception of six, reported 

for work for the four days of racing. The 

commitment, contribution and efforts 

of the entire team during this period are 

sincerely acknowledged.

Employee engagement and culture 
During 2008 the Club conducted a series 

of staff focus groups, which centred 

on employee engagement and culture 

across the whole of the Club. The views 

and suggestions from our people were 

actively sought on a range of topics, 

including performance management, 

career development, communication, 

values and vision, work practices, work 

organisation, learning and development, 

and leadership.

The information gleaned from this 

initiative is now the basis of the Club’s 

overall people strategy. A clear action plan 

has been formulated, targeting two key 

themes for the remainder of 2008 and 

early 2009, and VRC staff are actively 

involved in the implementation of a range 

of initiatives that emanated from the 

focus groups.

Importantly, this approach will be ongoing 

with staff focus groups being held on 

a six-monthly basis to assess the Club’s 

progress and impact. 

Learning and development
The Club introduced a ‘Leading through 

Excellence’ program for 16 management 

staff. The program included a suite 

of modules, including leadership, 

management, change and innovation, 

team effectiveness, relationship 

management and decision-making. 

The program was conducted over a 

12-month period and a full evaluation, 

post-completion of training, was completed. 

Furthermore, the Club introduced 360-

degree feedback for all of the executive 

team. From this exercise, each executive 

will have a structured development plan 

for the coming 12 months that leverages off 

the key insights gathered from the feedback. 

As part of the international staff exchange 

initiative, the Club hosted six overseas staff 

during the Melbourne Cup Carnival period, 

four were from The Hong Kong Jockey Club 

and two were from the Singapore Turf Club.

Participants worked across a variety 

of departments during the exchange 

program, enabling them to obtain direct 

exposure to all operational requirements 

that are critical throughout the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

Recruitment and selection
The Club introduced a ‘Recruitment 

Essentials’ at the VRC training program 

for all managers involved in hiring in 

2008. The program focused upon building 

the recruitment skills and knowledge 

of our line managers to ensure the Club 

consistently hires the best people. 

Further to the program, a range of 

interview guide templates and tools 

have been designed and made available 

to all staff via the Club’s intranet.

Additionally, the Club adopted a 

centralised recruitment approach when 

sourcing Melbourne Cup Carnival contract 

staff for each department. This approach 

enabled the Club to fully leverage its brand 

in the marketplace, sourcing a variety of 

strong candidates for all roles well within 

the required time frames.

Work organisation
Close working relationships continue 

to be maintained with the Australian 

Workers’ Union (AWU) and the Media 

Entertainment Arts Alliance (MEAA). 

The Enterprise Bargaining Agreement with 

the AWU expired during 2008, and was 

successfully renegotiated. This agreement 

covers the Club’s racecourse staff terms 

and conditions until 30 June 2011.

A review of the Club’s approach to 

performance management was conducted 

with an enhanced process and new 

templates rolled out to staff in June 2008. 

All staff were fully briefed on the revised 

approach. Importantly, this was an area 

of opportunity identified through the 

staff focus groups that has been actioned, 

receiving positive feedback.

During 2008 the Club conducted a series 
of staff focus groups, which centred 
on employee engagement and culture 
across the whole of the Club.

Human Resources

26
    

Vi
ct

or
ia

 R
ac

in
g 

Cl
ub

   A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
00

8



The VRC is strongly of the view that 
sustainability will be a catalyst for greater 
efficiency and opportunity rather than 
as an issue of compliance and cost. 

Sustainability

The VRC now operates on the premise that 

its Members, suppliers, corporate partners 

and other stakeholders share the Club’s 

values in considering the environmental 

impact of the events, hospitality and 

functions they enjoy at Flemington. 

The Club has embarked on a program to 

lead by example in pursuit of the highest 

standards in responsible event and venue 

management by balancing the needs of 

the environment and local community 

with that of its operations. 

The Club is guided by its Sustainability 

Charter in managing its operations in 

accordance with the following objectives:

1. Ensuring that the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival, by embracing the principles 

of sustainable event management, 

further enhances its status as a 

treasured Australian icon 

2. Continually improving the efficient 

use of resources, particularly water 

and energy, and minimising the use 

of chemicals and consumables

3. Continually improving the management 

of waste materials and effluents

4. Managing the Flemington Racecourse, 

gardens and facilities as a world-leading 

venue and ensuring its sustainability 

as a profitable community asset

5. Engaging with the local community 

on the impact of the Club’s operations 

6. Ensuring the conduct of events sets the 

highest standards for responsible event 

management, including the safety of 

staff and all participants

7. Engaging with stakeholders so that they 

can better understand the contribution 

they can make to the delivery of the 

Club’s vision for sustainability. 

The VRC is strongly of the view that 

sustainability will be a catalyst for greater 

efficiency and opportunity rather than 

as an issue of compliance and cost. 

In March 2007 the VRC enrolled in 

Environment Protection Authority (EPA) 

Victoria’s Environment and Resource 
Efficiency Plans (EREP) Program. The EREP 

Program focuses on working in partnership 

with the Victorian State Government to 

reduce energy and water consumption, 

as well as waste generation, greenhouse 

gas emissions and operating costs.

Extending the VRC’s focus beyond 

sustainable water management, 

improvement in the areas of energy 

consumption and waste generation 

have been established as key priorities 

for the Club.

Throughout the 2007/08 Season, 

baseline data was gathered across the 

areas of waste generation and energy 

consumption. By Season’s end, an energy 

audit had been completed and work had 

commenced on a Waste Minimisation 

Strategy in partnership with Cleanevent. 

Both assessments have identified 

opportunities for greater efficiency 

to be actively pursued in 2008/09.
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Finance

Financial result
The 2007/08 year was an extremely 

difficult year from a financial perspective, 

with the Club recording its first loss 

since the privatisation of the TAB in 1994. 

The reported loss is $2.2 million. From 

the outset in August 2007 the Club faced 

huge challenges with the outbreak of 

Equine Influenza (EI) in New South Wales 

and Queensland.

The outbreak of EI had two major financial 

impacts on the operations of the Club. 

The first was the need to introduce 

bio-security measures in and around 

the Flemington precinct on racedays and 

on a day-to-day basis given the significant 

training operations at Flemington. This 

involved extensive security measures 

and temporary infrastructure, costing 

the Club approximately $500,000.

The second impact of EI centred on 

the uncertainty of the Melbourne Cup 

Carnival actually proceeding. As a result 

bookings for the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

were considerably down on previous years 

and on forecast. A large proportion of the 

downturn was in the form of interstate 

and New Zealand visitors who were 

unwilling to take the risk of making 

arrangements and then having the 

possibility of losing funds not covered 

by insurance due to the cancellation 

of the event due to EI.

Admission revenue for the Season, largely 

attributed to the Melbourne Cup Carnival, 

was down $413,000 compared with 

the previous year and $1.1 million short 

of budget.

Also contributing to the financial result 

was the significant increase in interest 

expenditure arising from Club borrowings. 

Interest expenditure was $1.8 million 

for the financial year.

In previous financial years the Club was 

able to capitalise a large proportion of 

interest expenditure as all borrowings 

were for the construction of new assets 

within the Club’s Masterplan. In the 

financial year under review only a small 

proportion of interest was able to be 

capitalised due to the completion of 

the Masterplan in September 2007.

Freehold land
The Club had all of its freehold land 

independently valued by the Rushton 

Group. A total fair value of $61.6 million 

was derived by analysis of similar sales 

of various parcels of land in the local area. 

The value represented an increase of 

$19.4 million on the previous year.

Net cash position
During the year the Club entered into a 

new three (3) year banking facility with 

Westpac with a maximum borrowing 

limit of $40 million. The Club has set 

itself the target of reducing borrowings 

below $20 million by the end of the 

2011 financial year.

Given the risks associated with interest 

rate rises the Club entered into an interest 

rate hedging agreement to protect against 

any further interest rate rises.

At the end of the financial year total 

borrowings were $26.5 million and cash 

reserves were at $3.3 million.

Wagering
A reduction in the number of meetings 

held by the Club had an impact on betting. 

On-course turnover increased to a total 

of $59.1 million, up from $58.1 million the 

previous year. This result was largely due 

to the return to Flemington for all major 

meetings. Total wagering turnover on 

the Club’s meetings was $595.6 million, 

a decrease of 5.2%.
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Corporate 
Governance

The Board of Directors of the Victoria 

Racing Club is ultimately responsible 

for the governance of the Club. The 

importance of strong governance in the 

Racing Industry has been highlighted over 

the last year, and the Club commenced 

a thorough review of its policies and 

practices to ensure that best-practice 

corporate governance continues to guide 

all of the Club’s activities.

In March, our General Counsel was 

recruited to manage the legal affairs 

of the Club. In addition to addressing 

the day-to-day and broader legal issues 

facing the Club, the General Counsel’s role 

is to continually evaluate and improve, 

where possible, the Club’s governance 

practices in conjunction with the Board, 

sub-committees and management team.

A description of the Club’s main corporate 

governance practices follows. All of these 

practices, unless otherwise stated, were 

in place for the whole financial year.

Board composition and term of office
•  The Board consists of nine independent 

Directors and the Chief Executive

•  Each Director must seek re-election 

every three years

•  The Chairman, Vice Chairman and 

Honorary Treasurer are appointed 

each year

•  The Chairman and Vice Chairman may 

serve for a maximum of eight years, 

and must vacate office at the Annual 

General Meeting following the date 

on which they attain the age of 68

•  Directors must resign office immediately 

upon attaining the age of 72

•  It is the Board’s intention to seek 

Directors with a broad range of skills 

and experience to aid it in carrying out 

its responsibilities and in meeting the 

Club’s strategic objectives

•  Should a casual vacancy arise on the 

Board, existing Directors have the power 

to fill that vacancy after considering 

the skills and experience of existing 

Board Members.

Board responsibility
The Board meets on a monthly basis, and 

otherwise as the need arises, to discuss 

developments and issues affecting the 

Club and to review the Club’s operations. 

The Directors operate according to a strict 

Code of Conduct and the rules set down 

by the Club’s Constitution and By-laws. 

Sub-committees
The Board establishes sub-committees, 

as required, to assist in carrying out its 

primary functions. These sub-committees 

meet on a regular basis and act in an 

advisory capacity making recommendations 

to the Board. Examples of sub-committees 

active over the last year include:

• Audit and Risk Management

• Remuneration

• Grounds and Facilities

• Race Programming.

Corporate reporting
The General Manager Business and 

Finance reports to the Board on a monthly 

basis and otherwise as required.

Annually, the Chief Executive and the 

General Manager Business and Finance 

make the following representations to 

the Board of Directors:

•  That the Financial Statements are 

complete and present a true and fair 

view, in all material respects, of the 

financial position and operating results 

of the Club

•  That the above statement is founded 

on a sound system of internal control 

and risk management that implements 

the policies adopted by the Board 

of Directors and that the Club’s risk 

management and internal controls are 

operating efficiently and effectively.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee 

consists of the following Directors:

P J Fekete (Chairman)

P C Barnett

M S Burn

This Committee meets on at least three 

occasions throughout the year and on 

further occasions as the need arises. 
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Corporate Governance 
continued

The Committee meets with, and receives 

regular reports from, the Club’s auditors 

and management. The Committee 

presents its findings and makes 

recommendations to the Board.

The Audit and Risk Management 

Committee operates in accordance 

with its terms of reference and its 

main responsibilities include:

•  Reviewing the Financial Statements to 

determine whether they are complete 

and consistent with the information 

known to the Board and to assess 

whether the Financial Statements 

reflect appropriate accounting policies

•  Gaining an understanding of the areas 

of greatest risk and the risk management 

framework adopted by management 

to manage those risks

•  Discussing with external auditors any 

issues and making recommendations 

arising from the audit

•  Selection, evaluation and compensation 

of the external auditor.

Internal audit
The Club has an internal audit program 

in place that is designed to assist 

management in improving procedures 

and operations and to ensure that the 

Club has an established framework 

of internal controls.

The Audit and Risk Management 

Committee is responsible for ensuring that 

an adequate internal audit program is in 

place and for reviewing the findings from 

the work conducted by the internal auditor.

Codes of Conduct
The Club has developed separate Codes of 

Conduct for Directors and for employees.

The Codes of Conduct for both Directors 

and employees require the highest 

standards of professionalism and ethical 

behaviour to be maintained at all times.

Conflicts of interest
Directors are expected to avoid any action, 

position or interest that conflicts with 

an interest of the Club or may give any 

appearance of such a conflict. A Director 

who has a conflict or a perceived conflict 

of interest with that of the Club must 

bring it to the notice of the other Directors.

The general principle adopted by the 

Board, in keeping with the Corporations 

Act, is that if any Director has a material 

interest in any matter that is being 

considered by the Board, then that Director 

will not be present while the matter 

is being considered.

Remuneration of senior executives
A Remuneration Committee comprising 

the Chairman, Vice Chairman and 

Honorary Treasurer reviews senior 

executive remuneration annually. 

The Chief Executive also attends 

these meetings.

Contracts and commitments
With the arrival of our General Counsel, 

a renewed focus has been placed on 

contractual risk and its relationship to 

the financial and overall health of the 

Club. In addition to some inroads made to 

date, a number of new policies, tools and 

educational sessions will be implemented 

in the near future to ensure that all 

representatives of the Club understand 

their responsibilities in this area, the scope 

of their authority and how they can best 

protect the Club’s interests in fulfilling 

their roles.

Governance culture
The Club understands that governance 

policies are only as effective as the 

people who put them into practice. 

With this firmly in mind, the Club will 

focus on ensuring that all employees 

are appropriately inducted, trained 

and supported as required to ensure that 

corporate governance becomes second 

nature in all activities undertaken 

by the Club.
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Directors’ Report

Victoria Racing Club Limited became a registered company under 

the Corporations Act 2001 on 10 April 2006. 

The Directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited submit herewith 

the annual financial report of the Club for the financial year 

ended 31 July 2008. In order to comply with the provisions 

of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

The names of the Directors of the Club during or since the end 

of the financial year are as follows. Directors’ particulars and 

profiles can be viewed in the Annual Report on pages 6 to 7.

R M Fitzroy

P C Barnett

P J Fekete

W R Mackinnon

P T Leeds

Mrs A M Elliott

M S Burn

Miss K L Bourke

T Poole

D G Monteith

Company Secretary
Dale Monteith, Chief Executive Officer.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Club during the year were 

the conduct of race meetings and the provision of training 

facilities for horses stabled and trained at Flemington.

Results and review of operations
The net loss of the Club for the period ending 31 July 2008 was 

$2.2 million compared with a net profit of $2.7 million for the prior 

year. Significant matters impacting the result were as follows:

•  Wagering related distributions of $26.77 million were received 

for the year which is a decrease of $2.21 million on the prior year

•  Interest costs of $1.84 million were expensed in the year 

following completion of the masterplan project

•  Reduced number of interstate and international visitors 

attending the Melbourne Cup carnival as a result of 

the outbreak of Equine Influenza, resulting in reduced 

admission revenues of $1 million

•  Expenditure of $0.5 million for the introduction of security 

and bio-security measures as a result of the outbreak 

of Equine Influenza

•  Expenditure of $0.25 was incurred to determine a solution 

to the Club’s dependence on the usage of potable water

•  Costs of $0.75 million were incurred in reinstating roads and 

car parks following completion of the Masterplan project.

Increased revenues from functions and event management 

helped offset the impact of the above factors on the financial 

results of the year.

The following items were recognised directly in equity during 

the year and not through the Income Statement:

•  Freehold land was independently valued during the year, 

resulting in a revaluation gain of $19.38 million

•  An actuarial loss of $1.5 million on the Club’s defined benefit 

superannuation plan was recognised following a decline 

in the value of plan assets

•  A cash flow hedge loss of $0.32 million was recognised relating 

to the Club’s interest rate hedging. In April 2008, the Club 

entered into interest rate hedging arrangements to provide 

protection in the event of increases in interest rates. Due to 

the global financial crisis, interest rates have in fact decreased 

since that time. The Club is presently reviewing its interest 

rate hedging strategy given the changed circumstances 

in financial markets.

As noted in the Reports of the Chairman and Chief Executive, the 

outbreak of Equine Influenza did have a significant impact on our 

financial results for the year to 31 July 2008. However, the Club’s 

core businesses of racing, training and functions and events 

management remain strong and the Club remains in a sound 

financial position.

Changes in state of affairs
During the financial year there was no significant change in the 

state of affairs of Victoria Racing Club Limited other than that 

referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring 

subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 

affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Club, 

the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Club 

in future financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the 

operations of the Club in future financial years and the expected 

results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable 

prejudice to the Club. Accordingly, this information has not 

been disclosed in this report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During the financial year, the Club paid a premium in respect 

of a contract insuring the Directors, officers and employees 

of the Club against a liability incurred as such a director, officer 

or employee to the extent of all losses which the Club becomes 

legally obligated to pay on account of any claim. The Club has not 

otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent 

permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an auditor 

of the Club against a liability incurred as such an auditor.

Dividends
Under the Club’s constitution, no dividends may be declared 

or paid.
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Independence Declaration

Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings 

and meetings of the Audit and Risk Management Committee held 

during the financial year and the number of meetings attended 

by each Director (while they were a Director). During the financial 

year, 11 Board meetings and 4 Audit and Risk Committee meetings 

were held.

Board of 
Directors

Audit and Risk
Management 

Committee
Directors held att’d held att’d
Rod Fitzroy 11 11 – –

Peter Barnett 11 11 4 4

Peter Fekete 11 8 4 4

Bill Mackinnon 11 10 – –

Paul Leeds 11 10 – –

Amanda Elliott 11 10 – –

Michael Burn 11 9 4 4

Katherine Bourke 11 10 – –

Tim Poole 11 10 – –

Dale Monteith 11 11 4 4

Auditor
The firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office 

as the Club’s auditor. The auditor’s Independence Declaration 

is included in the Financial Statements on page 33.

Rounding of amounts
The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class 

Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that 

Class Order amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial 

report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made 

pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors,

Rodney M Fitzroy

Director

Melbourne, 31st October 2008

In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, 

I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence 

to the Directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements 

of Victoria Racing Club Limited for the financial year ended 

31 July 2008, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and 

belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i)  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii)  any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to 

the audit.

Yours faithfully

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain

Partner

Chartered Accountants

Melbourne, 31st October 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

ABN 74 490 121 060

180 Lonsdale Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

GPO Box 78B

Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111

Tel: +61 (0) 3 9208 7000

Fax: +61 (0) 3 9208 7001

www.deloitte.com.au
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Victoria Racing Club Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Victoria 

Racing Club Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 

31 July 2008, and the income statement, cash flow statement and 

statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended 

on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other 

explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration as set out on 

pages 35 to 55.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 

Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. 

This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal 

control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

In note 3, the Directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 

Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 

compliance with the Australian equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, 

comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with 

International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 

based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require 

that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 

audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free 

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial report in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s independence declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a)  the financial report of Victoria Racing Club Limited is in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 

position as at 31 July 2008 and of its performance 

for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards 

(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 

and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  the financial report also complies with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 3.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain

Partner

Chartered Accountants

Melbourne, 31st October 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

ABN 74 490 121 060

180 Lonsdale Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

GPO Box 78B

Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111

Tel: +61 (0) 3 9208 7000

Fax: +61 (0) 3 9208 7001

www.deloitte.com.au
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Income Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

Notes
2008
$000

2007
$000

Revenue
Thoroughbred Racing Industry Distributions 3(l) 26,767 28,977

Betting Levies and Commissions 4,490 3,972

Acceptance Fees 3,337 3,705

Members’ Subscriptions and Entrance Fees 12,936 12,252

Admissions 10,834 11,246

Catering and Raceday Dining 38,152 31,559

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights 16,714 14,576

Other Raceday Revenue 1,154 1,014

Racecourse 2,774 2,370

Interest on Cash and Cash Equivalents 177 340

Gaming and Functions 9,925 6,529

Net gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets 9 –

Share of net profits of associates and jointly controlled entities accounted for 
using the equity method 3(c),12 845 896

Other Revenue 156 172

Total Revenue 128,270 117,608

Expenditure
Returns to Owners:

– Prizemoney 35,031 34,896

– Other Payments and Subsidies 6 5

Catering and Raceday Dining 24,433 19,570

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights 1,028 1,084

Other Raceday Expenditure 14,336 12,313

Racecourse Maintenance 14,325 12,945

Administration 7,306 7,664

Gaming and Functions 7,534 4,335

Information Technology 1,201 1,166

Marketing and Business Development 9,021 7,930

Membership 3,426 3,235

Occupancy 841 833

Finance Costs on Bank Bills and Loans Payable 8 1,842 –

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 3(e) 10,157 8,980

Total Expenditure 130,487 114,956

Profit/(Loss) for the Year 5 (2,217) 2,652

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 39 to 55.
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Notes

2008
$000

2007
$000

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,361 5,086

Trade and Other Receivables 9 9,822 11,833

Inventories 3(b) 1,657 759

Other 11 1,652 1,541

Total Current Assets 16,492 19,219

Non-Current Assets
Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 3(c),12 30 849

Other Financial Assets 10 8,526 8,526

Property, Plant and Equipment 3(e),(f),13 196,639 178,918

Total Non-Current Assets 205,195 188,293

Total Assets 221,687 207,512

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 14 6,383 8,974

Fees in Advance 22,423 21,857

Borrowings 15 26,538 –

Provisions 3(i),16 2,967 2,645

Total Current Liabilities 58,311 33,476

Non-Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 14 250 500

Borrowings 15 127 28,000

Derivative Financial Liability 23 349 –

Provisions 3(i),16 3,979 2,214

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,705 30,714

Total Liabilities 63,016 64,190

Net Assets 158,671 143,322

Equity
Retained Earnings 5 97,744 101,460

Reserves 6 60,927 41,862

Total Equity 158,671 143,322

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 39 to 55.

Balance Sheet 
as at 31 July 2008
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2008
$000

2007
$000

Gain on Revaluation of Property 19,385 5,100

Gain on Available-for-sale Investments – 2,377

Loss on Cash Flow Hedges Taken to Equity (320) –

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Defined Benefit Plan (1,499) 1,264

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity 17,566 8,741

(Loss)/Profit for the Period (2,217) 2,652

Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Period 15,349 11,393

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 39 to 55.

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

Notes
2008
$000

2007
$000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from Racing Industry Distributions 32,076 32,461

Receipts from Members 14,835 14,740

Receipts from Racing Activities 81,373 76,637

Receipts from Gaming and Functions 10,885 7,150

Receipts from Racecourse 3,267 2,580

Receipts from Other Revenue 172 189

Payments for Prizemoney (38,851) (39,131)

Payments for Racing Activities (45,262) (37,330)

Payments for Racecourse Maintenance (15,548) (14,096)

Payments for Administrative Costs (7,875) (7,778)

Payments for Marketing and Business Development (10,008) (9,089)

Payments for Information Technology (1,358) (1,274)

Payments for Membership (3,866) (3,581)

Payments for Occupancy (936) (927)

Payments for Gaming and Functions (8,137) (4,816)

Interest Received 200 335

Interest and Other Costs of Finance Paid (1,987) (86)

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 19(c) 8,980 15,984

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Payments for Land – (5,550)

Payments for Buildings and Infrastructure (3,853) (8,724)

Payments for Plant and Equipment (5,725) (17,295)

Payments for Construction Work in Progress (1,086) (10,683)

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 9 5,400

Distribution from Equity Accounted Investments 1,700 825

Payments for Investments (250) (250)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (9,205) (36,277)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayment of Borrowings (1,500) –

Proceeds from Borrowings – 21,000

Net Cash (Used in)/Provided by Financing Activities (1,500) 21,000

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,725) 707

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Financial Year 5,086 4,379

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Financial Year 19(a) 3,361 5,086

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 39 to 55.
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1.  General information
The Victoria Racing Club Limited’s principal place of business 

and registered office is 448 Epsom Road, Flemington 3031, 

tel (03) 8378 0888.

Victoria Racing Club Limited (the Club) is a public company 

limited by guarantee, incorporated and operating in Australia. 

If the Club is wound up, the Constitution states that each current 

member, and each person who ceased membership within the 

preceding 12 months, is required to contribute a maximum of 

$10 towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the Club. 

At 31 July 2008 the number of members was 28,489 (2007: 27,541).

2.  Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
In the current year, the Club has adopted all of the new and 

revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to 

its operations and effective for the current annual reporting 

period. The adoption of these new and revised Standards 

and Interpretations has not resulted in changes to the Club’s 

accounting policies for the current or prior years.

The Club has also adopted the following Standards as listed 

below which only impacted on the Club’s financial statements 

with respect to disclosure:

•  AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (revised 

October 2006).

•  AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’.

•  AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’. AASB 8 is applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 

The Club has adopted the Standard early. Application of this 

Standard has resulted in the segment information not being 

required to be disclosed for the Club.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following 

Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective.

Initial application of the following Standard will not affect any 

of the amounts recognised in the financial report, but will change 

the disclosures presently made in relation to the Club and the 

Club’s financial report:

•  AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (revised 

September 2007), AASB 2007–8 ‘Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101’. Effective for 

annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2009.

Initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations 

is not expected to have any material impact on the financial 

report of the Club:

•  AASB Interpretation 14 ‘AASB 119 – The limit on a Defined 

Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 

Interaction’. Effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2008.

•  AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (revised), AASB 2007–6 ‘Amendments 

to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123’. 

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2009.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards 

and Interpretations in future periods will have no material 

financial impact on the financial statements of the Club.

The potential effect of the initial application of the expected 

issue of an Australian equivalent accounting standard to 

the following Standard has not yet been determined:

•  Improvements to IFRSs (2008). Effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

3.  Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that 

has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

and Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies 

with other requirements of the law. Accounting Standards include 

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 

Standards (‘A-IFRS’). Compliance with the A-IFRS ensures that 

the Financial Statements and notes of the Club comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

The Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the 

Directors on 31 October 2008.

Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical 

cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets

and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of 

the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts 

are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 

98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class 

Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the 

nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted 

in the preparation and presentation of the Financial Report.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash 

equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank 

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities

in the balance sheet.

(b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 

variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand 

by the method most appropriate to each particular class of 

inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out 

basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 

less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to 

make the sale.

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

3.  Significant accounting policies continued

(c) Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
The investments in ThoroughVision Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 927 

held by the Club are classified as being available for sale and 

are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner 

described in note 23(f). Gains and losses arising from changes in 

fair value are recognised directly in the investments revaluation 

reserve with the exception of impairment losses, which are 

recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is 

disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative 

gain or loss previously recognised in the investments revaluation 

reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 

are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, 

net of transaction costs. Loans and receivables are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 

less impairment.

Investments in associates
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment in associates 

are accounted for under the equity method in the Club Financial 

Statements. The investment in the Australian Prices Network 

is accounted for under the equity method.

Jointly controlled entities
Interests in jointly controlled entities in which the Club is 

a venturer (and so has joint control) are accounted for under 

the equity method. The investment in the Australian Stud Book 

is accounted for under the equity method.

(d) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and 

borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 

costs. Trade and other payables are recognised when the Club 

becomes obliged to make payments resulting from the purchase 

of goods and services.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 

recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 

amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 

through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is measured at fair value. Fair value is determined 

on the basis of an annual independent valuation prepared by 

external valuation experts based on an analysis of the size and 

position of the land, and of sales of land within close proximity 

over the last number of years. Fair values are recognised in 

the financial statements and are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period to ensure that the carrying values of freehold 

land are not materially different from their fair values.

Plant and equipment and buildings are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the item. In the event that settlement of all or part of 

the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined 

by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their 

present value as at the date of acquisition.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land is 

credited to a revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it 

reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously 

recognised as an expense in profit or loss, in which case the 

increase is credited to the income statement to the extent of

the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount 

arising on the revaluation of land is charged as an expense in 

profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any,

held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation 

of that asset.

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment, including 

buildings and infrastructure, but excluding construction work 

in progress, and is calculated on a straight line basis so as to 

write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful 

life to its estimated residual value. The estimated useful lives, 

residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end 

of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes 

recognised on a prospective basis.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation 

of depreciation.

• Buildings and Infrastructure 25 to 40 years

• Plant and Equipment and Furniture and Fittings 3 to 10 years

(f) Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the

lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental

to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their 

fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of 

the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception 

of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 

in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 

and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 

charges are charged directly against income, unless they are 

directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they 

are capitalised in accordance with the Club’s general policy 

on borrowing costs. Refer to note 3(h). Finance leased assets are 

amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life 

of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on 

a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another 

systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3.  Significant accounting policies continued

(g) Impairment of other tangible assets
At each reporting date, the Club reviews the carrying amounts 

of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent 

from other assets, the Club estimates the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit)

is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried 

at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as 

a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 

amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment 

loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) 

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried 

at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as 

a revaluation increase.

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 

get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 

of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 

ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned 

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 

their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that the Club will be required to settle the obligation, and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 

of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 

at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 

using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle 

a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 

the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 

that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 

receivable can be measured reliably.

(j) Employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees 

in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service

leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and 

they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected

to be settled within 12 months are measured at their nominal 

values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the

time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits that are 

not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the 

present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made 

by the Club in respect of services provided by employees up to 

reporting date.

Defined benefit plans
For defined benefit superannuation plans, the cost of providing 

benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, 

with actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting 

date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full directly 

in retained earnings in the period in which they occur, and are 

presented in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that 

the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on 

a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits 

become vested.

The defined benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet 

represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, 

adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, net of the fair value 

of the plan assets.

(k) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable for sale of goods and services.

Sale of goods and services
Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised

when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

•  The Club has transferred to the buyer the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership of the goods or service;

•  The Club retains neither continuing managerial involvement 

to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 

control over the goods sold or service provided;

•  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•  It is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the entity; and

•  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to

the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 

applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

3.  Significant accounting policies continued

(l) Thoroughbred Racing Industry distribution
The Club received distributions of $26.767 million (2007: $28.977 

million) and these represent the amount received and receivable 

in respect to the year ended 31 July 2008, net of industry 

adjustments. Included in this total is the amount of $2.066 million 

(2007: $2.066 million) representing contributions made to the 

Club by Racing Victoria Limited to fund, in part or wholly, capital 

developments at Flemington Racecourse.

(m) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 

of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except:

(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from

the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables that are recognised inclusive

of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the 

taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 

basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing 

and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable

to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
The Club has entered into an interest rate swap to manage 

its exposure to interest rate risk. Further details of the 

derivative financial instrument are disclosed in note 23 

to the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The 

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately 

unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 

instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in 

profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

The Club designated the interest rate swap as a hedge of highly 

probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).

The fair value of a hedging derivative is presented as a non-current 

asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the 

instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to 

be realised or settled within 12 months.

Hedge accounting
The Club designated the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the Club documented 

the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged 

item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy 

for undertaking the hedge transaction. Furthermore, at the 

inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Club 

documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in 

a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes 

in cash flows of the hedged item.

Note 23 contains details of the fair value of the derivative 

instrument used for hedging purposes. Movements in 

the hedging reserve in equity are also detailed in note 6.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of change in the fair value of the derivative 

that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge is deferred 

in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss as part of other expenses 

or other income.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the 

periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss in the 

same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item. 

However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in 

the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, 

the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 

from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 

of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Club revokes the 

hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is 

sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 

accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity 

at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 

forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. 

When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 

cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

(o) Comparative amounts
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative amounts 

have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 

for the current financial year.

4.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Club’s accounting policies, which 

are described in note 3, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 

historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which 

form the basis of making judgements. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

As described in note 23(f), management uses their judgement in 

selecting the most appropriate valuation technique in deriving fair 

value. For available for sale assets as noted in note 10 a combination 

of commonly used valuation techniques are applied.
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5.  Retained earnings

2008
$000

2007
$000

Balance at 1 August 101,460 92,576

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plan (1,499) 1,264

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve – 4,968

Net profit/(loss) (2,217) 2,652

Balance at 31 July 97,744 101,460

6.  Reserves

2008
$000

2007
$000

Investments revaluation 6,069 6,069

Asset revaluation 55,178 35,793

Hedging reserve (320) –

60,927 41,862

Investments revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 6,069 3,692

Valuation gain recognised – 2,377

Balance at 31 July 6,069 6,069

The investment revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial assets. 
Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset, 
and is effectively realised, is recognised in profit or loss. Where a revalued financial asset is impaired, 
that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised in profit or loss.

Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 35,793 35,661

Revaluation increments 19,385 5,100

Transferred to retained earnings – (4,968)

Balance at 31 July 55,178 35,793

The asset revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land. Where revalued land is sold, 

that portion of the asset revaluation reserve which relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, 

is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Hedging reserve
Balance at 1 August – interest rate swap – –

Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges (349) –

Transferred to profit or loss – Interest expense 29 –

Balance at 31 July (320) –

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of the cash flow hedge 

(interest rate swap). The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the 

hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss.



44
    

Vi
ct

or
ia

 R
ac

in
g 

Cl
ub

   A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
00

8

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

7.  Income tax
The Club is exempt from income tax under section 50–45SS9.1(a) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (as amended).

8.  Finance costs

2008
$000

2007
$000

Interest on commercial bills 2,086 971

Interest on obligations under finance lease 12 –

Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (285) (971)

1,813 –

Fair value loss on interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge transferred from equity 29 –

Total 1,842 –

9.  Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

2008
$000

2007
$000

Wagering distribution 723 3,116

TVN rights fees 2,296 2,296

TVN loan (i) 500 500

Racemeeting receipts 184 181

RVL training tracks subsidy – 178

Tabaret receivables 136 173

Trade receivables (ii) 4,446 4,273

Other receivables 1,537 1,116

9,822 11,833
(i) The loan receivable from TVN is at call on agreement of all shareholders.
(ii) The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade and other receivables
Included in trade and other receivables that are not impaired are the following amounts which are past due by:

2008
$000

2007
$000

30 – 60 days 697 729

60 days+ 1,984 1,709

Total 2,681 2,438

Included in the Club’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $2.7 million (2007: $2.4 million) which are 

considered past due in line with normal credit terms. The Club has not provided for any of these outstanding debts as they predominantly 

relate to services not yet performed in relation to the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival, and as such are considered fully recoverable.
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10.  Other financial assets

2008
$000

2007
$000

Available for sale investments at fair value:
Non-current
ThoroughVision Pty Ltd (i) 5,625 5,625

3UZ Sport 927 (ii) 2,846 2,846

8,471 8,471

Investments carried at amortised cost:
Non-current
Bank term deposits 55 55

8,526 8,526
(i) ThoroughVision Pty Ltd

 At 31 July 2008, the Victoria Racing Club Limited held a 12.5% (2007: 12.5%) shareholding in ThoroughVision Pty Ltd (TVN).

  PPB forensics was engaged as an independent valuer to provide an independent valuation of fair value of TVN at 31 July 2008. Based on all relevant 

and known financial information and with the utilisation of a discounted cash flow earnings model, the Victoria Racing Club Limited has valued 

its 12.5% shareholding, on a base of $45 million, at $5.625 million (2007: $5.625 million).
(ii) 3UZ Sport 927

 At 31 July 2008, the Victoria Racing Club Limited held a 14.23% (2007: 14.23%) shareholding in 3UZ Sport 927.

  LEK Consulting Pty Ltd was engaged to provide an independent valuation of fair value of 3UZ Sport 927 at 31 July 2008. Based on a combination of factors, 

which included sales of similar businesses, market values of assets and licences held and analysis of direct and indirect benefits accruing to the Racing 

Industry as a result of ownership of the radio station, the Victoria Racing Club Limited has valued its 14.23% shareholding, on a base of $20 million, 

at $2.846 million (2007: $2.846 million).

11.  Other assets

2008
$000

2007
$000

Prepayments 1,652 1,541
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

12.  Investments accounted for using the equity method

2008
$000

2007
$000

Investments in associate 28 72

Investments in jointly controlled entities 2 777

30 849

Principal activity
Country of
incorporation Ownership interest

Name of entity
2008

%
2007

%
Australian Prices Network Distribution of betting price fluctuations Australia 16.7 16.7

Jointly controlled entity
Australian Stud Book Maintenance of breeding register Australia 50.0 50.0

2008
$000

2007
$000

Summarised financial information of associate
Financial position
Total assets 290 545

Total liabilities 118 115

Net assets 172 430

Share of net assets 28 72

Financial performance
Total revenue 1,659 1,680

Total profit for the year 641 576

Share of profit before income tax 107 96

Share of income tax expense – –

Share of associate’s profit 107 96

Summarised financial information of jointly controlled entity
Financial position
Current assets 666 1,839

Non-current assets 687 935

Current liabilities 1,337 1,202

Non-current liabilities 12 18

Net assets 4 1,554

Share of net assets 2 777

Financial performance
Income 4,900 5,273

Expenses 3,423 3,673

Net profit 1,477 1,600

Share of jointly controlled entity’s profit or loss before tax 738 800

Share of jointly controlled entity’s income tax expense – –

Share of jointly controlled entity’s profit 738 800
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13.  Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land
at fair value 

$000

Construction
W.I.P. at cost

$000

Buildings and
infrastructure

at cost
$000

Plant and
equipment

at cost
$000

Assets under
finance lease

at cost
$000

Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 August 2006 36,983 16,818 91,895 79,493 66 225,255

Additions 5,550 26,720 8,724 17,295 – 58,289

Transfers – (14,911)  – – (66) (14,977)

Net revaluation 
increments/(decrements) 5,100 – – – – 5,100

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals (5,400) – – (107) – (5,507)

Balance at 1 August 2007 42,233 28,627 100,619 96,681 – 268,160

Additions – 1,247 16,453 19,013 197 36,910

Transfers – (28,417) – – – (28,417)

Net revaluation 
increments/(decrements) 19,385 – – – – 19,385

Disposals – – – (103) – (103)

Balance at 31 July 2008 61,618 1,457 117,072 115,591 197 295,935

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment

Balance at 1 August 2006 – – 39,097 41,271 39 80,407

Depreciation expense – – 4,341 4639 – 8,980

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (106) (39) (145)

Balance at 1 August 2007 – – 43,438 45,804 – 89,242

Depreciation expense – – 4,779 5,342 36 10,157

Disposals – – – (103) – (103)

Balance at 31 July 2008 – – 48,217 51,043 36 99,296

Net book value
As at 31 July 2007 42,233 28,627 57,181 50,877 – 178,918 

As at 31 July 2008 61,618 1,457 68,855 64,548 161 196,639

Freehold land carried at fair value.
An independent valuation of the Club’s freehold land was performed by Rushton valuers to determine the fair value of the land. 

The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to similar sales of real estate in the 

local and surrounding areas and with regard to the size, shape and topography of the individual parcels of land. The effective date 

of the valuation is 31 July 2008 (2007: 31 July 2007).

Had the Club’s land been measured on a historical cost basis, the carrying amount would have been as follows:

2008
$000

2007
$000

Freehold land 890 890
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

14.  Trade and other payables at amortised cost

2008
$000

2007
$000

Current
Race meeting payables 387 644

Payables for assets 57 2,304

Trade payables (i) 3,140 3,706

Racing Victoria (ii) 250 250

Other payables 2,549 2,070

6,383 8,974

Non-current
Racing Victoria (ii) 250 500
(i) The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables.
(ii) The payable to Racing Victoria Limited is payable at $0.25 million per annum is interest bearing and will be fully repaid by 31 July 2010.

15.  Borrowings

2008
$000

2007
$000

Unsecured – at amortised cost
Current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 38 –

Commercial bills 26,500 –

Subtotal 26,538 –

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 127 –

Commercial bills – 28,000

Subtotal 127 28,000

Total 26,665 28,000
(i) Secured by assets leased.

Under the Club’s Commercial Bill Facility, which expires in July 2011, the gearing covenant is calculated on total approved debt 

facilities as opposed to total drawn debt. At 31 July 2008 the Club did not meet this gearing covenant. The Club’s financier 

has waived this departure and the covenant has been amended since year end.

The Club is able to utilise the full $40 million facility at any time through to July 2011. The drawn portion of this facility is shown 

as a current liability on the balance sheet as required by AASB 101, however due to the waiver noted above no repayment is 

currently required. This facility will continue to be in place until July 2011 subject to normal adherence to the facility covenants.

16.  Provisions

2008
$000

2007
$000

Current
Employee benefits 2,967 2,645

Non-current
Employee benefits 3,979 2,214

6,946 4,859

The current provision for employee benefits includes $2.13 million of annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements 

accrued but not expected to be taken within 12 months (2007: $1.88 million). The employee benefits expense for the year was 

$0.47 million (2007: $0.25 million). The expense has been included in the Income Statement in expenditure for Administration 

and Racecourse Maintenance.
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17.  Leases
Finance leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the purchase of motor vehicles and equipment with lease terms of up to four years remaining. 

At the conclusion of the term and final payment, full ownership is transferred to the Club.

Minimum future
lease payments

Present value of
minimum future
lease payments

Finance lease liabilities
2008
$000

2007
$000

2008
$000

2007
$000

– not later than 1 year 50 – 47 –

– later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 144 – 118 –

Minimum lease payments 194 – 165 –

Less future finance charges 29 – – –

Present value of minimum lease payments 165 – 165 –

Included in the Financial Statements as: (note 15)

– Current borrowings 38 –

– Non-current borrowings 127 –

165 –

Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

Operating leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the rental of the Club computer network and motor vehicles with lease terms of between 

3 to 5 years. On conclusion of the term, there are no options to extend or purchase.

2008
$000

2007
$000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Not longer than 1 year 291 162

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 252 42

543 204

18.  Defined benefit superannuation fund
A significant number of employees of the Club are members of the Victorian Racing Industry Superannuation Fund (the sub-plan) of the 

AMP Signature Super. The sub-plan has a combination of defined benefit and accumulation membership. The following information 

relates to the defined benefit membership. The defined benefit segment of the sub-plan is closed to new members.

The defined benefit members are entitled to retirement benefits based on a multiple of their deemed final salary upon attainment 

of a retirement age of 60. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The defined benefit superannuation segment is a funded segment of the sub-plan. The net deficit determined in the sub-plan’s 

most recent financial report, for the year ended 31 July 2008, was $3.338 million (2007: $1.563 million). Since year end the worldwide 

financial market decline may have further impacted on this liability. A full actuarial assessment of the sub-plan is due to be received 

in December 2008. Funding recommendations are made by the actuary based on their forecast of various matters, including future 

plan assets performance, interest rates and salary increases.

The Club has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the defined benefit segment of the sub-plan, but no direct legal right to withdraw 

any surplus from the sub-plan.

The Club expects to make a contribution of $829 thousand (2008: $874 thousand) to the defined benefit segment of the sub-plan 

during the next financial year.

2008
%

2007
%

Key assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuation were as follows 
(expressed as weighted averages):
Discount rate gross of tax 6.2 6.0

Discount rate net of tax 5.3 5.1

Expected return on plan assets 7.0 7.0

Expected rate of salary increase 4.5 4.5
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

18.  Defined benefit superannuation fund continued

Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

2008
$000

2007
$000

Current service cost 1,253 1,403

Interest cost 679 613

Expected return on plan assets (845) (771)

Expense recognised in income statement 1,087 1,245

Actuarial (gains)/losses incurred during the year and recognised in the statement of recognised 
income and expense 1,499 (1,264)

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (416) (1,915)

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Club’s obligations in respect 
of its defined benefit sub-plan is as follows:

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation at end of year 14,028 14,057

Fair value of plan assets at end of year (10,690) (12,494)

3,338 1,563
Unrecognised past service cost – –

Unrecognised gain/(loss) – –

Adjustment for limit on net asset – –

Fair value of reimbursement rights – –

Net liability arising from defined benefit 3,338 1,563

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations in the current period 
were as follows:

Defined benefit obligation at start of year 14,057 13,315

Current service cost 1,253 1,403

Interest cost 679 613

Member contributions 175 204

Actuarial gains (301) (730)

Benefits paid (1,835) (748)

Defined benefit obligation at end of year 14,028 14,057

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as follows:

Opening fair value of plan assets 12,494 10,844

Expected return on plan assets 845 771

Actuarial gains/(losses) (1,801) 534

Employer contributions 812 889

Member contributions 175 204

Benefits paid (1,835) (748)

Closing fair value of plan assets 10,690 12,494

The analysis of the plan assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Expected return Fair value of plan assets

 
2008

%
2007

%
2008
$000

2007
$000

Equity instruments 7.75 7.75 6,200 7,372

Debt instruments 5.5 5.5 2,779 3,124

Property 7.0 7.0 1,069 1,249

Other 7.0 7.0 642 749

Weighted average expected return 7.0 7.0 10,690 12,494
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18.  Defined benefit superannuation fund continued

The actual return on plan assets was ($0.956) million (2007: $1.305 million).

The expected return on plan assets assumptions is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class 

by the target allocation to each class. The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and fees.

The history of experience adjustments is as follows:

2008
$000

2007
$000

Fair value of plan assets 10,690 12,494

Present value of defined benefit obligation 14,028 14,057

Surplus/(deficit) (3,338) (1,563)

Experience adjustments – plan liabilities 85 514

Experience adjustments – plan assets (1,801) 534

19.  Notes to the cash flow statement

2008
$000

2007
$000

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost  3,361 5,086

(b) Financing facilities
Unsecured commercial bill facility
Amount used 26,500 28,000

Amount unused 13,500 2,000

40,000 30,000

Unsecured bank overdraft facility
Amount used – – 

Amount unused 5,000 5,000

5,000 5,000

Unsecured leasing facility 
Amount used 197 – 

Amount unused 1,303 1,500 

1,500 1,500

(c) Reconciliation of profit for the period to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the year (2,217) 2,652

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,157 8,980

Impairment of non-current assets – –

Share of profits in associated entities not received as dividends or distributions (845) (896)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets (9) –

Non-cash fair value loss on interest rate swap 29 –

Non-cash movements in defined benefit superannuation expense 275 356

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 1,900 1,079

Increase in inventories (898) (135)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (451) (543)

Increase in fees in advance 566 4,237

Increase in employee benefit provisions 473 254

8,980 15,984
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

20.  Auditors’ remuneration

2008
$

2007
$

Auditors of Victoria Racing Club Limited

– Audit of the financial report 114,875 108,000

– Other services 10,400 –

Other services primarily consist of accounting assistance in relation to the introduction of AASB 7.

21.  Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel of the Club include the Chief Executive Officer and the nine direct reports, and members of the Board. 

The compensation of the key management personnel is set out below and includes the Chief Executive Officer and the direct reports. 

Directors of the Board are not remunerated by the Club; however, do receive certain reimbursements and compensation for cost incurred 

while fulfilling their role as a Director.

2008
$

2007
$

Short-term employee benefits 2,105,841 2,129,373

Post-employment benefits 347,753 458,517

Other long-term employee benefits 538,039 585,807

2,991,633 3,173,697

22.  Capital commitments
The Club has capital commitments for capital expenditure on 

qualifying assets at 31 July 2008 of $1.250 million (2007: $5.312 

million). The capital commitments are to be paid within 12 months.

23.  Financial instruments
(a) Capital risk management
The Club manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to 

continue as a going concern.

The capital structure of the Club consists of cash and cash 

equivalents and equity comprising retained earnings and 

reserves, as disclosed in notes 5 and 6 respectively.

In addition, from time to time the Club uses borrowings to fund 

capital expenditure and to cover cash flow requirements due 

to mismatches in the timing of receipt of income and payment 

of expenses.

The Club is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Club’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2007.

(b) Financial risk management objectives
The Club’s finance function provides services to the business 

and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to 

the operations of the Club. These risks include market risk 

(interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Club has sought to minimise the effect of interest rate risk, 

by using a derivative financial instrument. The use of financial 

derivatives is governed by the Club’s policies approved by 

the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on 

interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives 

and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment 

of excess liquidity.

The Club does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 

including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 

purposes. Compliance with policies and exposure limits 

is reviewed on a continual basis by the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee.

(c) Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods 

adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 

recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 

liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the 

financial report.

(d) Interest rate risk management
The Club is mainly exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows 

funds at variable interest rates. The risk is managed by the Club 

by minimising borrowings, managing cash flows and by entering 

into an interest rate swap to mitigate the risk of rising interest 

rates. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with 

interest rate views and the Club’s risk appetite.



53
    

Vi
ct

or
ia

 R
ac

in
g 

Cl
ub

   A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
00

8

23.  Financial instruments continued

Interest rate swap contract
Under the interest rate swap contract, the Club agreed to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts 

calculated on an agreed notional principal amount. The contract enables the Club to mitigate the risk of cash flow exposures on the 

issued variable rate borrowings. The fair value of the interest rate swap at the reporting date is determined by discounting the future 

cash flows using the future yield curve at reporting date and the credit risk inherent in the contract.

The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of the interest rate swap contract outstanding 

as at reporting date:

Average contracted 
fixed interest rate

Notional 
principal amount Fair value

2008
%

2007
%

2008
$000

2007
$000

2008
$000

2007
$000

Outstanding pay floating 
for fixed contract 7.96 – 23,000 – (349) –

The interest rate swap settles on a monthly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swap is BBSW. The Club will settle the difference 

between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

The interest rate swap contract is designated as a cash flow hedge in order to reduce the Club’s cash flow exposure from variable rate 

borrowings. The hedged cash flows are expected to occur from 1 August 2008 to 30 August 2011. The periods when the hedged cash flows 

are expected to impact profit or loss are not known at this stage as the cash flows will either be expensed in profit or loss as interest 

expense or will be capitalised if they relate to a qualifying asset in line with the Club’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Interest rate risk exposure
The following table details the Club’s exposure to interest rate risk through its interest earning financial assets and interest bearing 

financial liabilities as at 31 July.

2008 2007
Weighted 

average 
effective 

interest rate
%

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Fixed
interest rate

$000

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

%

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Fixed 
interest rate

$000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.25 3,361 – 5.92 5,086 –

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 8.0 500 – 8.60 750 –

Commercial bills 7.70 26,500 – 6.51 28,000 –

Interest rate swap 7.96 (23,000) 23,000 – – –
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2008

23.  Financial instruments continued

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based 

on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-

derivative instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated 

change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and 

held constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point 

increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of 

the possible change in interest rates.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points 

higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, 

the Club’s net profit would decrease by $117,920 or increase 

by $117,920 (2007: decrease by $118,045 or increase by $118,045). 

This is mainly attributable to the Club’s exposure to interest 

rates on its commercial bills.

The sensitivity on net profit disclosed above is not representative 

of the Club’s exposure during the year due to the fluctuation 

in the level of commercial bills throughout the year based on 

the Club’s monthly cash flow requirements.

(e) Other price risk management
The Club is exposed to equity price risk arising from its 

investments in ThoroughVision Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 927, 

which are accounted for as available for sale investments.

While the Club is exposed to the fair value of these investments, 

it does not expect the fair value to move significantly from period 

to period unless there is a significant change in the investees’ 

underlying business.

(f) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are 

determined as follows:

•  the fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard 

terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets 

are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

•  the fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are 

determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 

models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial 

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in 

the financial statements approximate their fair values.

(g) Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with 

the Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity 

risk management framework for the management of the Club’s 

short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 

requirements.

The Club manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves 

and banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast 

and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles 

of financial assets and liabilities.

The following tables detail the Club’s remaining contractual 

maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn 

up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Club can be required 

to pay. The tables includes both interest and principal cash flows.

2008
1–3

months
$000

3 months 
–  1 year 

$000

1–5
years
$000

Total
$000

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,133 272 294 6,699

Commercial bills 26,670 – – 26,670

Derivative financial liability – 349 – 349

Finance lease liability – 51 147 198

32,803 672 441 33,916

2007
1–3

months
$000

3 months 
– 1 year

$000

1–5
years
$000

Total
$000

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 8,724 272 586 9,582

Commercial bills 28,152 – – 28,152

36,876 272 586 37,734
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23.  Financial instruments continued

(h) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default 

on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 

the Club. The Club has adopted a policy of only dealing with 

creditworthy counterparties.

Membership applicants are scrutinised, including credit checks. 

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments 

is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 

ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial 

statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the 

Club’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account 

of the value of any collateral obtained, with the exception of the 

following guarantees. The Club has guaranteed the obligations 

of Racing Victoria Limited and Werribee Racing Club in respect 

of loans provided by Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 

for the amounts not exceeding $0.5 million (2007: $0.75 million) 

and $3.0 million (2007: $3.0 million) respectively. From 1 August 

2007 to 26 August 2007 the Club guaranteed the obligations of 

ThoroughVision Pty Ltd in respect of loans provided by Australia 

and New Zealand Banking Group for an amount not exceeding 

$0.76 million.

The Club does not have any significant credit risk exposure to 

any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having 

similar characteristics.

24.  Related parties
The following parties are considered to be related parties to 

the Club:

Members of the Board who held office in the year ended 31 July 2008 

(as detailed on pages 6 to 7 of this Report).

All Members of the Board act in an honorary capacity and receive 

no remuneration for their services; however, do receive certain 

reimbursements and compensation for cost incurred while 

fulfilling their role as a Director. Certain Members of the Board 

participate in the Thoroughbred Racing Industry via means of 

ownership of racehorses either individually or through related 

entities. This involvement is on terms and conditions no more 

favourable than other participants in the Thoroughbred 

Racing Industry.

Key management personnel includes the Chief Executive Officer 

and the nine direct reports and members of the Board. During 

the year a total of $2.10 million (2007: $2.13 million) was paid or 

reimbursed to these key management personnel for the services 

provided to the Club.

The Club paid Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance on behalf 

of the Board and Officers of the Club.

The Club indemnifies each officer of the Club against any liability 

that may be instituted against them or any of them in the exercise 

of their office or performance of their duties.

The Club has not otherwise, during or since the financial year 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the 

Club or any related organisation against liability incurred as such 

an officer or auditor.

All other material transactions and balances with related parties 

have been disclosed in this Report.

25.  Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring 

subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 

affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Club, 

the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Club 

in future financial years.

Directors’ declaration
The Directors declare that:

(a)  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to 

believe that the Club will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable.

(b)  In the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements 

and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards 

and giving a true and fair view of the financial position 

and performance of the Club.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made 

pursuant to  Section 295 (5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P J Fekete

Director

D G Monteith

Chief Executive

Melbourne, 31st October 2008
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2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 

Racing
Race Meetings 25 30 32 32 32

Saturdays and Public Holidays 20 19 19 19 18

Sundays 0 1 2 2 6

Mid-Weeks 5 10 11 11 8

Races 208 244 266 274 272

Starters 2,414 2,629 2,981 3,078 3,180

Average Starters per Race 11.6 10.8 11.2 11.2 11.7

Attendances
Annual 566,379 539,058 563,862 551,266 555,868

Melbourne Cup Day 102,411 106,691 106,479 98,161 122,736

Melbourne Cup Carnival 397,413 418,069 383,784 370,114 376,767

Membership
Members – All Categories 28,489 27,541 26,170 24,136 23,332

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Prizemoney 35,031 34,896 34,633 33,495 30,917

Betting Turnover
On Course Totalizator 59,085 58,142 58,320 59,520 58,352

Bookmakers 138,989 148,724 168,474 169,391 156,718

Off Course Totalizator 397,600 421,845 420,954 410,974 384,244

Total Turnover 595,674 628,711 647,748 639,885 599,314

Financial Information
Net Surplus/(Loss) (2,217) 2,652 909 2,186 3,397

Wagering Distribution 26,767 28,977 25,538 26,959 25,713

New Buildings and Property, Plant and Equipment 37,289 52,739 38,448 20,183 5,926

Performance
Total Revenue (excl. Wagering Distribution) 100,111 87,549 83,881 78,341 73,676

Average Entrance Revenue $19.13 $20.86 $17.50 $15.84 $13.82

Sponsorship as to Prizemoney 26.95% 23.39% 21.60% 19.70% 23.10%

Returns to Owners as to Distribution 130.87% 120.40% 135.60% 124.20% 120.20%

Note: The above five-year statistical summary relates to the Racing Seasons 1 August to 31 July.

Statistical Summary

Photographs courtesy of Bryce Dunkley 

and The Slattery Media Group.
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